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THE COMPANY FOR WOMEN

Cover Her mail carrier, a next-

door neighbor, a friend from

church – Leadership representa-

tive Shellie Streetman of Hiram,

Georgia has recruited them and

many others into the ranks of suc-

cessful Avon representatives. But

she does more than just bring

them into the fold. Shellie and

other representatives in the Lead-

ership Opportunity program stay

in close contact with their recruits,

constantly training them on new

products, encouraging them with

enthusiasm, and rewarding them

for building a successful business.

Through Avon, Shellie can

stay home with her young son

and daughter and have, not only a

career, but a business. Says Shellie,

“I never knew I could have 

so much fun making money.” Rep-

resentatives like Shellie Streetman

are just further proof why Avon is

the company for women.

Pictured are (clockwise, from

top) Angela Gustin, Shellie

Streetman, Brandy Berryhill and

Tabitha Alexander.



In millions, except per share data

Years ended December 31 1998 1997 Percent
Change

Net Sales $5,212.7 $5,079.4 3%

Net Income* $ 270.0 $ 338.8 -20%

Earnings per Share:*†

Basic $ 1.03 $ 1.28 -20%

Diluted $ 1.02 $ 1.27 -20%

At December 31

Total Debt $ 256.3 $ 234.3

* 1998 Net income includes $122.8 million, or $.46 per share, in one-time charges.
Excluding the charges, earnings per share on a diluted basis rose 17% to $1.48.

† 1997 Earnings per share restated to reflect two-for-one stock split in September 1998.

FlNANClAL HlGHLlGHTS

FlNANClAL ACHlEVEMENTS

•As reported

•Non-recurring charges  
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Avon had a great year in 1998, in terms of finan-

cial results and, just as important, in terms of the

progress that was made to position the company

for the future. We are pleased to highlight the

year’s accomplishments in our first report to you

as the new executive leadership of Avon.

It certainly was not an easy year.The external

environment was harsh in many parts of the world

and in some of our key markets. But we were 

able to overcome the obstacles and deliver solid

earnings growth for the tenth consecutive year.

And, while 1999 will no doubt present new

and unforeseen challenges, we entered the new year

with strong momentum and great confidence in

the near- and long-term outlook for the company.

We are energized by the potential we see for

Avon.Through disciplined, focused management

and a set of clearly defined strategic priorities, we

firmly believe we can leverage the company’s

strengths in beauty and direct selling and trans-

form “The New Avon” into a true global power

brand for the 21st century.

Superior Returns Avon’s shareholders

enjoyed a superior return on their investment in

1998.Total return – price appreciation plus divi-

dends – was 47%, compared to 29% for the

Standard & Poor’s 500. Over the past decade

Avon’s investors have earned 29% compounded

annually, versus 19% for the S&P 500.

In July, we announced a two-for-one stock

split, reflecting our continued confidence in the

business.That was the second two-for-one split in

two years. Prior to 1996, Avon had not split its

stock in 26 years.

We are firmly committed to creating value for

our shareholders by generating consistent, prof-

itable growth. And, to further enhance shareholder

returns, we will continue to utilize a portion of

our strong cash flow to repurchase Avon’s shares

and pay cash dividends.

In July, the Board of Directors authorized 

an increase of $600 million in the company’s 

current share repurchase program, which began 

in 1997.The program now totals $1.1 billion,

of which $217 million has been spent through

year-end 1998.

Charles R. Perrin 

Chief Executive Officer

Andrea Jung 

President and Chief Operating Officer

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

BY EXECUTING OUR STRATEGIES SUCCESSFULLY, WE

SEE A UNIQUE OPPORTUNITY TO CAPITALIZE ON OUR 

INHERENT STRENGTHS AND POSITION AVON AS THE 

COMPANY FOR WOMEN – SERVING THEIR PRODUCT, SERVICE AND 

SELF-FULFILLMENT NEEDS GLOBALLY.



Avon began purchasing its shares in the open

market in early 1994. Since then, a total of $642

million has been used to purchase 32.1 million

shares at an average cost of $20 per share.

In addition, in February 1998 and February

1999, we announced dividend increases of 8%

and 6%, respectively, marking the eighth and

ninth consecutive years of increases. Since 1990,

the quarterly rate has been increased by 188%.

1998 Results Sales reached a record $5.2

billion in 1998, up 3% in dollar terms, but up a

much stronger 9% in local currencies. Earnings

increased by 17% to $1.48 per diluted share,

before one-time charges in the first and third

quarters related to our re-engineering efforts.This

was the highest year-over-year increase in earnings

before non-recurring items since 1991, and solidly

within our stated long-term goal of 16-18%

annual EPS growth.

We achieved our target by following through

on the major priorities we set early in the year:

We implemented a recovery plan for Brazil

that resulted in a 13% sales increase (22% in

local currency terms) and nearly a doubling of

operating profits to $100 million – a record level.

We more than tripled profits in Japan from a

very depressed 1997 level, with solid increases in

both gross and operating margins in a very diffi-

cult economy.

We improved the operating margin of Avon

U.S., our largest market, by 1.6 points to 17.1%,

the highest level in recent history.

And, we freed up over $120 million in

resources company-wide through Business Process

Redesign, which fueled new growth initiatives and

contributed to the bottom line.

The 17% earnings per share growth in 1998

is particularly notable because of the hurdles we

had to clear in order to achieve it.

First off, we had to “anniversary” a $26.5

million pretax gain in the 1997 fourth quarter

related to a VAT settlement in the U.K. that

increased earnings in the base year by $.06 per

share. Excluding that year-earlier benefit, earnings

before charges actually grew 22% in 1998.

Furthermore, 1998 was characterized by

extreme economic volatility, with many emerging

market currencies declining steeply against the

U.S. dollar.Translating local currency results into

dollars cost us 6% on the sales line and about

10% in earnings per share growth for the year.

On top of that, we had major disruptions to

our business in China and Russia in 1998. While

they are relatively small markets for Avon, they

were expected to continue to grow rapidly and

profitably during the year, but they did not. In

fact, their profits came in $25 million below our

plans, costing us about $.06 in earnings per share.

OVER THE PAST DECADE, AVON’S INVESTORS 

HAVE EARNED A TOTAL RETURN OF 29%, COMPOUNDED ANNUALLY,

VERSUS 19% FOR THE STANDARD AND POOR’S 500.

Assumes $100 invested 12/31/88, and dividends reinvested.

•Avon         •S&P 500

1988 – 1998 Cumulative Total Return
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Geographic Strength A detailed discussion

of our global operating results, by region, appears

later in this report. Here are the highlights:

Latin America had a stellar year, with sales

up 10% (19% in local currencies) and operating

profits jumping 23%. Brazil and Mexico turned in

record performances and Venezuela was very

strong despite a tough economy. Sales increased

in every major market, units in the region grew

14% and active representatives grew 19%.

Despite economic volatility in Latin America

historically, including numerous currency devalua-

tions, Avon has an enviable track record in the

region. Operating profits have grown at a com-

pound annual rate of 15% over the past decade.

In North America, sales rose a healthy 5%

and operating profit was up a strong 16%, even

after $15 million of incremental investments in

the U.S for new programs for sales representa-

tives and to attract new consumers to the Avon

brand. Avon U.S. achieved double-digit operating

profit growth in every quarter of the year.

Europe’s sales were up 6% (10% in local

currencies) and operating profits rose 18%,

despite a sizable loss in the second half in Russia

following the collapse of the ruble in August.

Operating margin in Europe rose 1.3 points to

12.6%, driven by improvements of 2.5 points in

Western Europe and nearly 7 points in Central

Europe, which were offset by substantial margin

erosion in Russia.

The Pacific region had a difficult year, as

expected, with sales down 20% (3% in local cur-

rency) and operating profits down 7%. Excluding

China, however, where we were forced by the gov-

ernment to close operations temporarily in the

spring, Pacific’s profits were up 5%.That was a

major accomplishment considering the economic

turmoil throughout Southeast Asia. Gross and

operating margins improved by 1.4 and 1.5

points, respectively, fueled by Business Process

Redesign (BPR) initiatives throughout the region.

Progress On BPR BPR was an important

factor in improving Avon’s overall profitability 

in 1998.The $120-plus million in savings came

from a wide range of activities in all geographic

regions and contributed to a 1.7 point improve-

ment in consolidated gross margin (to 61.3%)

and a 1.5 point improvement in operating margin

(to 12.2%), before one-time charges.

We are tracking well against our stated goal

to free up $400 million in resources on an annual

basis by the end of 2000 and improve operating

margin to 15%. BPR is also helping us work

smarter by changing the way we think and operate.

That’s a culture shift that will produce ongoing

benefits well beyond our current targeted savings.

A significant portion of the resources freed

up through BPR in 1998 was reinvested in the

business to contemporize Avon’s direct-selling sys-

tem and reach new consumers by improving

access to our products and raising awareness of

the Avon brand.

DESPITE ECONOMIC VOLATILITY IN 

LATIN AMERICA HISTORICALLY, INCLUDING NUMEROUS 

CURRENCY DEVALUATIONS, AVON HAS AN ENVIABLE 

TRACK RECORD IN THE REGION.

Latin America Operating Profit

$ In millions
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Strategies For Growth There is a lot more

work to do in these areas and we intend to pick

up the pace in 1999, as we begin implementing a

long-range strategic plan to drive top line growth.

The strategic plan is still being finalized, but

key elements are already clear:

For one, we will re-commit ourselves to beau-

ty leadership, which means creating a consistent,

aspirational image for the Avon brand around the

world. We intend to increase beauty and related

products as a percentage of our total sales by

continuing to develop first-to-market, state-of-the-

art global brands that provide real, discernable

benefits to meet women’s beauty needs. And we

intend to significantly increase our position in the

personal care category, which is a relatively

untapped market for us now.

Equally important, we know we must make

our direct-selling system more relevant to today’s

women.That means providing meaningful career

opportunities as well as harnessing technology to

make Avon more “user friendly” for our nearly

three million independent representatives around

the world who are the lifeblood of our business.

By executing our strategies successfully, we

see a unique opportunity to capitalize on our

inherent strengths and position Avon as the com-

pany for women – serving their product, service

and self-fulfillment needs globally.

True To Our Values Exciting, positive change

is in the air throughout Avon. We have felt it all

year long in the more than 20 markets we visited

to meet personally with local managements,

employees and representatives. But even as Avon

changes its face, the company’s heart and soul is

still embodied in its vision and its values.

As we begin executing our growth strategies

globally, we will continue to be guided by our

commitment to serve the needs of women and by

our abiding respect for the individual in all our

business dealings.

Those principles are an important part of the

legacy of Jim Preston, who will retire from Avon

in May, after 35 years of dedicated service, the

last 10 as chairman and chief executive officer.

It is hard to overstate the role Jim has played

in Avon’s past success. He led the company

through a massive restructuring in the early

1990s that restored Avon’s financial health and

put us back on course to become the preeminent

direct-selling company in the world. And, all the

while, he personified the values and ethical con-

duct that define Avon today.

A WORLD-CLASS GLOBAL PRODUCT LINE WILL 

HELP CREATE A CONSISTENT, ASPIRATIONAL IMAGE FOR THE 

AVON BRAND AROUND THE WORLD.

Core Global Brands 

as a Percentage of CFT Sales

1993 1998

47%

11%

Sales of Core Global Brands
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His are large shoes to fill. But we’re confident

that with the support of our global management

team we can take Avon to even greater heights in

the future and build on the tremendous foundation

Jim so skillfully helped put in place.

We’d also like to acknowledge Charles Locke

and George Grune, both of whom have retired

from the Avon Board. Charley, who retired in

January, was a director for 12 years, and George,

who retires in May, has been a director for eight

years. Both of them served with distinction and

their contributions to the Board and the company

are greatly appreciated.

And, to our 34,000 associates around the

world and our 2.8 million independent representa-

tives, we express our heartfelt thanks for your

hard work in 1998 and, even more, for supporting

us through the leadership transition over the 

past year.

We are very excited about Avon’s future

prospects and we truly believe the best is yet to

come for this great company.

MESSAGE FROM JIM PRESTON

Management succession is one of the most impor-

tant responsibilities of CEOs and Boards of

Directors. If done well, a succession plan puts in

place the next generation of executives who can

build on the company’s past success and provide

visionary leadership for the future.

We have just such a team heading Avon now.

Charlie Perrin and Andrea Jung have a clear view

of the future potential of Avon, they have a firm

hand on the reins of the company, and they have

earned the respect and support of Avon people

around the world.

They, along with Avon’s other senior execu-

tives and the company’s high-quality support staff

and country general managers, represent the

strongest management cadre I can ever remember

at Avon (and that’s really going back some!).

On a personal note, it’s been a privilege to

serve as CEO for the past decade. It certainly has

been the most stimulating and challenging 10

years I’ve ever spent, and I’ll carry with me a life-

time of memories of the wonderful people I’ve

worked with during my career at Avon.

Avon is unique in many ways, but more than

anything, the company is defined by the one-on-

one relationships it has with its representatives

and customers. It is a people-oriented culture that

puts a high premium on human values. I consider

myself very fortunate to have spent nearly my

entire business career in such an environment.

I’m often asked what I think my

legacy will be and I answer that I won’t

know for another few years. Because 

it’s not what I’ve done during my time

here that counts, it’s Avon’s future 

success that will be the true measure of

my contribution.

I can say this:The company is in great hands

and I think the future has never looked brighter for

Avon’s associates, representatives and shareholders.

Charles R. Perrin 

Chief Executive Officer

James E. Preston

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Andrea Jung 

President and Chief Operating Officer

February 28, 1999



ASK A HUNDRED WOMEN WHAT AVON MEANS TO THEM AND YOU 

MAY GET A HUNDRED DIFFERENT ANSWERS. SOME WILL SAY, “AVON IS MY BRAND.THEY MAKE OUTSTANDING

BEAUTY PRODUCTS WITH UNSURPASSED VALUE, AND MAKE THEM AVAILABLE 

IN A WAY THAT IS MOST CONVENIENT TO ME.” MANY WILL SAY, “AVON IS MY BUSINESS. SINCE I’VE 

BEEN AN AVON REPRESENTATIVE I’VE BEEN ABLE TO SAVE ENOUGH MONEY TO SEND MY DAUGHTER TO 

COLLEGE. AND IT IS MY BUSINESS; I CAN GO AS FAR AS MY AMBITION TAKES ME.”

OTHERS WILL SAY, “AVON CARES ABOUT ME. MONEY RAISED THROUGH AVON’S BREAST

CANCER AWARENESS CRUSADE FUNDED A MAMMOGRAPHY MACHINE IN OUR LOCAL CLINIC.THIS CAN SAVE 

COUNTLESS LIVES.” AND STILL OTHERS WILL SAY, “AVON IS MY COMPANY. HERE I CAN BE MYSELF.

I CAN QUESTION,TAKE RISKS, GO AS FAR AS MY ABILITIES WILL TAKE ME BECAUSE AVON BELIEVES IN MY 

POTENTIAL AND IS WILLING TO NURTURE IT.” DIFFERENT WOMEN. DIFFERENT ANSWERS. A 

SINGLE THEME: AVON IS THE COMPANY FOR WOMEN.

THE NEW AVON
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AVON lS MY BRAND

In selling nearly $4 billion worth of beauty prod-

ucts to Avon representatives, and to consumers

through Avon’s website and various fixed-access

locations, millions of women around the world

echoed a single sentiment in 1998: “Avon is 

my brand.”

To make this statement resonate with new

and established customers, Avon employed aggres-

sive customer-growth and brand-building strate-

gies during the year. It strengthened its commit-

ment to satisfying women’s beauty product needs;

intensified its drive to enhance its image; and

aggressively sought new customers through alter-

native access channels.

The Power of Avon In its effort to grow into

a global “power” brand, Avon continued to raise

the bar on developing, producing and distributing

world-class beauty products in 1998.

One important step that recognizes the

increasing importance of global brands was the

establishment of the Global Development Center

(GDC), which folds under one umbrella the work

of dispersed local and regional product develop-

ment centers in Europe, Mexico, Brazil, Asia and

the United States.

The GDC’s advantages are clear: Avon cuts

down on duplicative and unproductive local devel-

opment time and effort, while also producing

brands that are marketable in multiple countries.

One highly successful result of the GDC’s

partnership with Avon’s marketing teams around

the world was Women of Earth (WE), Avon’s

first “master brand” and fourth quarter global

fragrance. Launched in 54 countries simultane-

ously, Women of Earth is a watershed brand for

Avon in many ways: in addition to launching with

the most line extensions ever produced, WE is the

most successful global fragrance launch in Avon’s

history, achieving a 31% increase over the launch

of Far Away, previously Avon’s benchmark for the

most successful global fragrance launch.

Women of Earth wasn’t alone in making a

splash last year. Established global brands, such

as Anew and Perfect Wear, continued to grow

through innovative line extensions and first-to-

AVON REMAINS COMMITTED TO SATISFYING 

WOMEN’S BEAUTY PRODUCT NEEDS; ENHANCING ITS IMAGE; AND 

IMPROVING CUSTOMER ACCESS.

Women of Earth is the most

“global” brand Avon has ever 

produced, having benefited

tremendously from the com-

pany’s efforts at global pro-

curement and production.

In fact, Women of Earth has the 

lowest cost of goods of any 

global fragrance, allowing coun-

tries that sell the fragrance –

priced as a mass premium 

line – to retain higher margins.

Global Unity (right) Behind

Avon’s newest global brand,

Women of Earth, is a message of

unity through diversity; a global

advertising campaign for the

brand (seen in brochures, televi-

sion commercials, print advertise-

ments and online) was developed

in-house and features women

from around the world.
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market technological advances. New brands,

such as Avon Basics and Color Trend, rounded

out important categories by targeting younger

consumers.

A huge, untapped product category for Avon

is personal care, which represents 50% of the

$140 billion CFT (cosmetics, fragrance and 

toiletries) market worldwide. Last year, Avon

launched Techniques, a premium hair care line,

and expanded the U.K.-originated Naturals bath

and body line. Going forward, the company is

planning more aggressive product roll-outs. With

only a 1% share of the total worldwide market,

Avon sees its biggest new product opportunity yet

in this category.

Image is Everything As successful as Avon’s

global brands are, they don’t sell themselves.

Through strategic initiatives designed to focus on

high-quality, affordable products, as well as conve-

nience for the customer, Avon last year not only

increased its product sales, but also strengthened

its image.

One important element of the image upgrade

was the announcement of a global advertising

strategy. Avon appointed The MacManus Group –

including its N.W. Ayer & Partners and DMB&B

International network – as its single global adver-

tising agency in July 1998.

Prior to this, Avon used local advertising

agencies in markets around the world. By consoli-

dating worldwide advertising with one group,

Avon can expand its global advertising presence

and communicate a more unified brand image

throughout its international markets.

DMB&B has been Avon Philippines’ agency

since 1993. And N.W. Ayer, which has been the

Avon Centre The Avon Centre

emphasizes health and beauty

within its 20,000 square feet on

four floors. The fifth and sixth

floors house the elegantly

appointed spa and salon, includ-

ing 5,000 square feet for lectures,

meetings and other events. The

first two floors offer sale of select

Avon beauty products, including

the Avon Spa Collection, which was

created for exclusive use at the

Avon Centre.

Image Assuming a higher profile

with consumers in São Paulo,

Avon Brazil’s two-year-old NATA

facility aims to provide medical,

health and beauty professionals

with lecture and workshop space.

It also offers spa services such as

facial treatments and makeup

applications, and sells Avon beauty

products directly to consumers.



agency of record for Avon U.S. since 1995, has

created such successful U.S. campaigns as “Just

Another Avon Lady” in 1996, “Dare to Change

Your Mind About Avon” in 1997, and “Claim

Your Beauty” in 1998.

Another dramatic move in image enhance-

ment, however, came with the opening in November

of the Avon Centre, a spa, salon and retail store

located in Trump Tower in New York City.

Reflecting the enhanced imagery Avon sales

representatives and customers had been seeing in

the products, packaging, sales brochures, advertis-

ing and other consumer-focused initiatives, the

Avon Centre encourages more women to take a

fresh look at the new Avon.

A forerunner of the Avon Centre is the NATA

facility in São Paulo, which offers a glimpse at the

high-tech image Avon is cultivating in some of its

other large markets.

Created in 1997 by Avon Brazil as a center

of research for beauty professionals, dermatolo-

gists and plastic surgeons, NATA took on an

expanded, high-profile role in 1998: a facial clinic

and beauty salon, as well as a retail store counter,

allows Brazilian customers to see – and experi-

ence – Avon in a whole new way.

Location is Everything Else In 1998, how

customers bought Avon’s beauty products was

almost as important as what they bought.

To accommodate women’s changing lifestyles

and needs, Avon continued to remake the face 

of its businesses, in both established and develop-

ing markets.

In the United States, for example, the compa-

ny made major inroads into new customer territo-

ry with its award-winning website (www.avon.com).

As the first major beauty company to enable 

consumer purchases online in 1997, the site now

attracts 300,000 visitors per month.

Avon U.S. also broke ground on a new and

exciting aspect of its customer growth strategy:

Avon Beauty Centers.

These kiosks, which are located in about 40

high-traffic malls across the United States, are

designed to display an upscale beauty image,

showcase the company’s beauty brands, and

encourage customer trial of products. Avon

Beauty Centers took their inspiration from similar

initiatives in other Avon countries, including

Malaysia, the Philippines,Taiwan, Spain, Chile,

Venezuela and Mexico.

Importantly, all of the retail locations around

the world allow Avon to have direct contact with

consumers of all types. Whether they are serving

women who love the Avon brand but don’t shop

through the direct-selling channel, or consumers

who have never been exposed to Avon products, the

ultimate benefit of these locations is greater cus-

tomer growth, a goal that never changes for Avon.

TO ACCOMMODATE WOMEN’S CHANGING 

LIFESTYLES AND NEEDS, AVON CONTINUED TO REMAKE THE FACE 

OF ITS BUSINESSES, IN BOTH ESTABLISHED AND 

DEVELOPING MARKETS.

Global Imaging At Avon, global

brand recognition and global

beauty imagery go hand-in-hand.

Almost half of Avon’s CFT sales

(cosmetics, fragrance and toi-

letries) now come from global

brands – brands like Anew,Avon

Color and Women of Earth that are

instantly recognized by women

all around the world. Supporting

global brands calls for globally

consistent, high-quality beauty

images (like the one on the right)

that not only sell the products but 

also sell the Avon brand.

The 1998 announcement 

of the consolidation of global

advertising with The MacManus

Group both builds on Avon’s 

previous efforts to present the

new Avon and improve the con-

sistency of beauty imagery and

advertising around the world.
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AVON lS MY BUSlNESS

It’s the business of 2.8 million women in 135

countries around the world.They are represen-

tatives of Avon. But, it’s not just products like 

Anew or Avon Color they are sharing, it’s belief in

themselves.

Avon is more than something they do for

money, more than something they do for fun,

and more than something they do because they

love the products. Avon is something they do for

themselves. Representatives take great pride in

ownership of their success.That’s why they are

proud to say, “Avon is my business.”

Pride in Ownership And as business owners,

that means managing details: placing orders, col-

lecting payments and making deliveries.They must

stay up-to-date on all the latest product innova-

tions and continue learning new ways to sell Avon

in their area.

Because it is their business, and the compa-

ny’s, Avon is committed to their success.That

means identifying problems, developing solutions

that work and implementing those solutions,

locally and globally.

Competition is intensifying, both for Avon as

a company and for representatives as business

owners.This competition comes from other beauty

companies, retail stores selling competing prod-

ucts and from other direct-selling companies that

compete for Avon’s talented sales force.

AVON REPRESENTATIVES TAKE GREAT PRIDE IN 

OWNERSHIP OF THEIR SUCCESS. THAT’S WHY THEY ARE PROUD TO 

SAY, “AVON IS MY BUSINESS.”

Customer and Representative/U.S.

In the United States and through-

out the Avon world, representa-

tives like Debbie Ajala (right) are

business owners. They record

sales and expenses and collect

payments as well as educate con-

sumers about the 

latest Avon innovations.These

hardworking representatives are

the heart of Avon, just as they

were when David McConnell

founded the business 113 years

ago, and just as they will be in

the future.

ARCP/Taiwan (right) Taiwan’s

Avon Representative Career

Program (ARCP) dealers recruit

new Avon representatives and

serve as mentors, helping them

build their business. The ARCP

helps retain and reward sales

leaders by tying compensation to

sales levels. In two-and-a-half

years, ARCP doubled the number

of dealers to 84,000 – a third

recruited by ARCP dealers them-

selves – leading to an 18%  

sales jump and 2.5 million new 

customers during that time.

But, perhaps the biggest success 

has been increased pride. Says

S.K. Kao, Avon Taiwan’s general 

manager, “ARCP Dealers now 

call Avon ‘our company.’”
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As standards of living improve in markets

around the world, women have more income

options than ever before.Therefore, it’s important

for the earnings opportunities with Avon to con-

tinue to appeal to women from New York to

Taipei to Moscow.

Encouraging Entrepreneurship To ensure

Avon continues to be a viable business opportunity

for serious, career-minded direct-sales people, the

company has launched initiatives in markets like

the United States,Taiwan and Malaysia, among 

others.The programs were developed to address

issues in these local markets, but they are part of

Avon’s global strategy to contemporize its sales

force by offering women several ways to grow

with the company.

Avon U.S., the company’s largest and most

developed market with 465,000 representatives,

in 1998 revamped its network marketing pro-

gram, called the Leadership Opportunity. Avon has

added updated training and support materials to

help Leadership representatives recruit, appoint,

train and mentor their own organizations. It is

Avon’s premier earnings opportunity as

Leadership representatives earn from their per-

sonal product sales, plus receive bonuses based on

the performance of their organizations.

The Leadership Opportunity gives career-

minded representatives the opportunity to be their

own bosses, to grow a substantial business and to

earn more with Avon.

Taiwan’s Avon Representative Career

Program (ARCP) is a similarly inspired initiative

encouraging top dealers to recruit and train new

representatives by giving them a commission from

the recruits’ sales.

Zone Managers, who previously only recruited

representatives, have eagerly adopted the volun-

tary program. As more of them tried it out, they

Malaysia Malaysia is helping suc-

cessful representatives like Lyn

Soraya and her mother, Noor

Hayati, expand their Avon busi-

ness through small franchise out-

lets called Avon Beauty Boutiques,

which require a modest initial

investment by the franchisee.

“Avon brings out the entrepre-

neurship in individuals through

their franchises,” says Soraya.

Representatives eager for their

orders can pick up products any

time without waiting for the next

campaign or mail delivery.

Avon Express Center The

Washington, D.C. Avon Express

Center gives representatives easy

access to thousands of Avon prod-

ucts, six days a week. Located in a

new shopping center, the Express

Center is a 6,000 square-foot

mini-store, where representatives

can fill orders immediately, rather

than wait for campaign deliveries.

Even more important than the

convenience is the increased sales

volume for the area’s 5,000 repre-

sentatives, who can now quickly

meet customer needs and build

their businesses faster.



saw the program boosted sales and recruiting, and

freed them up to spend more time motivating top-

performing representatives.

Yet another innovation is taking place in

Malaysia, where Avon Beauty Boutiques rapidly

are opening up around the country.These small

franchise stores are owned by entrepreneurial

women, who see tremendous business potential 

in selling Avon products.These franchises 

exclusively sell Avon products, giving representa-

tives and customers instant access to the 

company’s core offerings. Malaysia is proof that

what’s best for women is what’s best for Avon:

There are already nearly 200 Avon Beauty

Boutiques in Malaysia, accounting for 68% of

Avon Malaysia’s sales.

The U.S. market is testing a similar concept –

Avon Beauty Centers – freestanding shopping mall

kiosks, which may also be offered as franchises to

representatives.The fixed-access locations offer

representatives additional earnings opportunities

and a way for Avon to break into new markets

that were previously tough to enter and where

representative coverage is low.

Rallying Around Customer Service Avon

representatives the world over are focused on one

thing – customers.They want to reach more cus-

tomers, and better serve the ones they have. It’s

Avon’s duty to help them do that, which is why

the company is embarking on a company-wide

customer service initiative to tackle problems that

can potentially damage Avon’s relationship with

its customers and representatives.

Such issues can range from a missing product

in a representative’s order due to a supply short-

age to a misprint in a brochure. By reducing these

errors the company’s relationship with representa-

tives, and the representative’s relationship with

her customers, will grow stronger.

But, improving customer service means more

than just eliminating mistakes. It also means

developing new and better ways to be more

accessible to representatives.

Avon Japan is doing just that with several

ordering innovations: allowing representatives to

order more than once during a campaign, reduc-

ing how long they must wait to receive orders and

adding new ways to order like telephone, fax and

interactive computer voice ordering. Also, repre-

sentatives can now order directly from Avon

Japan over the Internet.

Customer service was certainly top-of-mind

for the more than 6,000 representatives attend-

ing the United States’ first-ever Representative

National Convention in August.The convention

focused on training and motivation with a product

expo, marketing show and seminars to help repre-

sentatives grow their businesses and be inspired.

Of course, there is no one initiative, program

or strategy that by itself will enable representa-

tives to reach more customers and build their

businesses. Everything Avon does is with the cus-

tomer and representative in mind.

Avon representatives are not only the founda-

tion on which this business is built, they are the

builders themselves.That’s why 2.8 million women

around the world are proud to say, “Avon is my

business.”

Ordering Center/Japan Avon

Japan’s representatives now have

several new ways of ordering that

have given new momentum to

traditional direct selling.They are

reaping the rewards of technolo-

gy, with telephone, fax and inter-

active computer voice ordering,

which allows 24-hour ordering.

They can also stay connected 

and place orders via Avon Japan’s

website. Easy ordering is accom-

panied by speedy delivery – 

usually one to two days. In turn,

customer service levels have in-

creased dramatically. Says one 

satisfied representative, “In terms

of the company’s support, I 

appreciate the fact we now have

more choices when ordering 

and the period between placing

orders and receiving products 

has been greatly reduced.This is

very encouraging for us.”

IMPROVING CUSTOMER SERVICE MEANS 

DEVELOPING NEW AND BETTER WAYS TO BE MORE ACCESSIBLE 

TO REPRESENTATIVES.
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Avon has a time-honored reputation as a company

committed to the empowerment and improvement

of the lives of women and their families – from

Avon associates and representatives to the cus-

tomers and communities they serve.

This dedication provides the financial

resources and power of Avon people to: increase

women’s health and fitness knowledge; recognize

and celebrate women who inspire others; and

support causes that deeply affect women’s lives.

These combined corporate, regional and grass-

roots efforts provide women powerful support that

enables them to say, “Avon cares about me.”

Talk the Talk,Walk the Walk A true mani-

festation of Avon’s commitment to caring for

women came in 1998, when the Avon Worldwide

Fund for Women’s Health announced it had raised

and distributed $50 million for women’s health

programs since 1992.The money was raised by

representatives in 28 countries through the sale of

specially designed products.True to its word, Avon

is the first company to commit that much money

to the cause of women’s health.

Determined to do more, Avon also announced

an aggressive goal to raise and distribute another

$50 million over the next several years, bringing

its expected total contributions to $100 million.

Avon’s confidence in meeting this goal is due

to the enthusiasm of the participating countries to

expand their fundraising efforts.

THE AVON WORLDWIDE FUND FOR 

WOMEN’S HEALTH HAS RAISED $50 MILLION FOR WOMEN’S 

HEALTH PROGRAMS.

AVON CARES ABOUT ME

Avon Running Hungary Arriving

by car, train and on foot, 8,500

women descended upon Budapest,

determined to participate in the

October 17 Avon Running 10K

run and 5K fitness walk. The

race was the largest event on the

Avon Running circuit and the

largest all-woman race ever in

Hungary. On May 22, 1999,

the winners from the Hungary

race, as well as winners from

each Avon Running event, will

attend the Avon Running – 

Global Women’s Championship

in New York City to compete 

for a prize of $50,000 – making

it the richest 10K event in the

history of women’s running.

Breast Cancer Walk (right)

Walkers from AVON’s Breast

Cancer 3-DayTM enjoyed the spirit

of camaraderie, took in the 

beautiful California coastline 

and ignored any aching muscles,

knowing that every step helped

raise a record $5 million for 

non-profit breast health programs

across the United States. The 

3-Day’s success has spurred

Avon’s Breast Cancer Awareness

Crusade to expand the event in

1999 to four cities: Atlanta,

Chicago, Los Angeles and New

York. Considering the track

record set by the inaugural event,

Avon expects another round 

of incredible fundraising results

and lasting memories.
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Dr.Tessy María López Goerne

One of Avon Mexico’s 1998 

Zazil winners, Dr.Tessy María

López Goerne, is a renowned

expert in researching catalysis

used in the petrochemistry field.

Recognized for her six patents

and scientific work to reduce 

pollution, Goerne’s contributions

in her field have helped to devel-

op a higher-quality, more envi-

ronment-friendly gasoline.

Principal Diana C. Santos

Working in cooperation with the

Philippines’ Department of

Education, Culture and Sports,

Avon Philippines gave the 1998

Gintong IIawan:Teodora Alonso

Educator’s Award to Ms. Diana 

C. Santos who for the last 17 

years has been the principal of 

the Rizal High School in Caniogan,

Pasig City. Leading the world’s

largest high school, with 22,525

students and 800 faculty members,

Santos is known not just for main-

taining control of her large student

body, but also for her innovative and

cutting-edge educational programs.

Raising Awareness Avon’s commitment to

caring for women goes far beyond the much need-

ed funds that improve access to health programs.

For Avon, caring means creating programs

that raise awareness and rally women to take a

more active role in their own health and fitness.

Last year, Avon developed global and local pro-

grams to educate women about issues such as

exercise, nutrition, breast care and women’s cancers.

Avon believes that raising awareness empowers

women to make better choices both for themselves

and for other women in their lives.

Last year, two initiatives exemplified this phi-

losophy: the Avon Running program and Avon

Poland’s work with Project HOPE Polska.

In 1998, Avon relaunched a global running

program, sponsoring 23 events involving 50,000

runners worldwide. While holding competitions for

elite 10K athletes, Avon Running’s true focus was

to promote health and fitness among all women.

To help women embrace exercise, 5K fitness walks

were held and training programs were offered in

most countries. From Malaysia to Chile to the

United States and Hungary, women walked

together to promote the benefits of exercise at

each and every race.

Beyond the international scope of Avon

Running, the company looked for opportunities at

the local level to draw attention to the special

issues that affected women in the communities,

cities or countries where Avon conducts business.

Avon Poland’s work with two breast cancer

foundations demonstrated the power of local initia-

tives to raise awareness of a deadly but often treat-

able disease, rarely discussed in public or in private.



Breast cancer is the most common cause of

death for women in Poland. Every year, more than

10,000 women are diagnosed with breast cancer.

Most disturbing is the fact that more than half of

these women die because their cancer was found

too late for surgery.

In response, Avon Poland joined forces with

Project HOPE Polska and the National Coalition

to Combat Breast Cancer in March of 1998,

emphasizing the need for early detection and

treatment of breast cancer.

The “Great Campaign for Life – Avon Against

Breast Cancer” raised funds with representative

sales of Avon pink ribbon pins.The proceeds were

used to train physicians, nurses and survivors in

10 cities across Poland and to fund outreach pro-

grams in six cities with the highest incidence of

breast cancer cases.

Women’s Causes Avon’s commitment to 

caring is reflected in the company’s endorsement

of causes that are relevant to the unique needs of

women today.

In the United States, Avon’s Breast Cancer

Awareness Crusade had a watershed year in

1998, with the debut of a new fundraiser for

breast cancer early detection. AVON’s Breast

Cancer 3-Day™ took place in California October 23-

25, when 2,400 people walked 60 miles from

Santa Barbara to Malibu. Each walker raised a

minimum of $1,700 and collectively, contributions

raised $5 million in net proceeds.

Additional women’s causes received Avon

support through the efforts of the Avon Products

Foundation. Since its establishment in 1955, the

Avon Foundation has contributed more than $40

million in charitable grants to organizations that

understand and respond to the needs of women

and their families.

Leading the Way For many women Avon

proves its commitment to caring by recognizing

and rewarding women of excellence. In countries

around the world, Avon programs recognize women

who are leaders in their chosen field or have over-

come formidable odds to achieve success.

Avon Japan pioneered women’s recognition

programs at Avon, and in 1998 celebrated the

20th anniversary of the Josei Bunka Awards to

Women program. Since 1978, Avon Japan has

recognized 106 outstanding women who have

achieved personal excellence and contributed 

to society in the areas of sports, education,

humanities and business. Many Avon markets 

have followed suit. Avon Mexico’s Zazil Award

also recognizes women who excel across a variety

of fields. Avon Philippines’ Gintong IIawan:Teodora

Alonso Educator’s Award recognizes outstanding

women educators. And in the United States,

Avon’s Women of Enterprise Program, celebrating

its 12th year in 1998, is the country’s premier

recognition program for women entrepreneurs.

Through successful awareness, recognition

and cause-related programs, Avon has demon-

strated that its concern for women goes well

beyond the sale of products. Avon is dedicated to

supporting the further empowerment and enlight-

enment of women around the world.

IN COUNTRIES AROUND THE WORLD, AVON 

PROGRAMS RECOGNIZE WOMEN WHO ARE LEADERS IN THEIR 

CHOSEN FIELD OR HAVE OVERCOME FORMIDABLE 

ODDS TO ACHIEVE SUCCESSES.

Project HOPE Polska Dr. Adriana

Legowik-Chmielewska speaks

with a patient at the mammog-

raphy ward of the Regional

Oncology Center in Gdansk,

Poland. Dr. Legowik-Chmielewska

is one of 133 doctors and nurses

specially trained by Project HOPE

Polska.The team in Gdansk has a

special focus on outreach work:

educating medical professionals

about the importance of early

breast cancer detection and treat-

ment; training women of all ages

to do breast self-exams; and em-

powering women to talk to their

doctors about breast health – a

topic once considered taboo to

discuss, even among women.
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AVON lS MY COMPANY

At Avon, being the company for women is as

important in the workplace as it is in the market-

place. It means developing the potential of all

associates – regardless of gender, race, religion or

ethnicity – in pursuit of the company’s vision. It is

this commitment to celebrating individuality and

bringing out the best in each person that makes

Avon a rewarding career choice for thousands of

women. It’s why they are proud to say: “Avon is

my company.”

Avon may be 113 years old, but it is always

ahead of its time in seeking out entrepreneurial

and talented women – as representatives, and as

employees.

A Little Less Lonely at the Top Despite the

tremendous strides of the past two decades, many

women in business still occupy lower-level or

administrative positions, and there exists a serious

gender gap in the upper echelons of most corpora-

tions. But it’s not as lonely at the top as it once

was. In the United States, women hold about

11% of the board seats of Fortune 500 compa-

nies, according to Catalyst, a New York-based

nonprofit research and advisory organization that

works to advance women in business. In contrast,

women hold six of the 12 seats on Avon’s Board

of Directors, or 50%. And they’re women with

influence. Fortune magazine named three of

Avon’s board members to its first-ever list of the

“50 Most Powerful Women in American

Business.”The publication cited the need for the

inaugural list because, “women, at last, are 

AVON HAS PROSPERED BY 

PROVIDING ALL INDIVIDUALS THE CHANCE TO 

REALIZE THEIR FULL POTENTIAL.

Jean Ford/U.S. (right) After 

nearly 25 years with Avon, it

seems that Jean Ford’s enthusiasm

for Avon keeps escalating.This

comes as no surprise when you

learn that Ford is the director of

U.S. events and motivation.

“When I’m meeting representa-

tives and seeing how Avon helps

them grow their businesses and

gain confidence, I see how what I

do contributes to the growth of

our company.” Ford considers

Avon unique in the blend of

products, services and opportuni-

ties it offers women. “I could

Eneida Bini/Brazil Eneida Bini

remembers scanning the want-

ads in the Sunday paper for jobs,

another eager 19-year-old in

search of work. An ad for a bi-

lingual secretary at Avon caught

her eye. She used Avon products

herself and showed the ad to her

mother who said, “That’s a good

company to work for.”

Eighteen years later, as Avon

Brazil’s senior finance director,

Bini agrees wholeheartedly. She

says, “What really changed was

the way I looked at my career.

Back then, I would have said,

‘maybe one day I’ll be the presi-

dent’s secretary.’ And I think that

Avon really helped me to realize

that I had the potential to grow. I

think that’s what helped me suc-

ceed in the company.”

never have had such a fantastic

career and discovered who I was

in any other corporation. Avon

has a culture that matches my

personality.This is the perfect fit

for me.”
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achieving profound power in the most important

and influential industries.” In addition, many women

hold key operating positions in the company, and

six of Avon’s country general managers are women.

As a global company, Avon seeks to develop

outstanding female associates wherever the com-

pany does business. Worldwide, 34% of Avon’s

executives (defined as director-level and above)

are women. Furthermore, 71% of those at the

manager-level are women, showing that Avon is

filling the executive pipeline with high-potential

women candidates.

In every country where Avon has operations,

the percentage of women employees far exceeds

the country average.This commitment to fostering

an environment where women can flourish has

earned both Avon Products, Inc. and Avon

Mexico the prestigious Catalyst award, which rec-

ognizes companies with outstanding initiatives

addressing women’s recruitment, development and

advancement.

Many other Avon markets worldwide have

received similar accolades. Avon Australia was

recognized by the Affirmative Action Agency as a

“best practice” organization for women in

Australia. Avon Germany has been recognized for

three consecutive years by the Bavarian govern-

ment for its outstanding commitment to women’s

advancement, and has earned an E-Quality Award

for its measures to ensure equality for women at

work. Avon U.K. earned the title “Employer of the

Year” in Northhamptonshire and the Excellence

in Business Award. And in the United States,

Working Woman magazine ranked Avon number

one in its inaugural listing of the “Top 25 Public

Companies for Executive Women.”

Dare to be Different: Managing Diversity

Offering people around the world the opportunity

to better their lives has built Avon into the world’s

leading direct seller of beauty and related prod-

ucts. Avon has prospered by providing individuals

the chance to realize their full potential.Through

Managing Diversity, Avon believes its 34,000

associates deserve an equal opportunity to pursue

their goals while contributing to the company’s

growth.This bond between individual accomplish-

ment and Avon’s success is a fundamental element

of the company’s operating principles, as well as

its Managing Diversity philosophy. Avon may be

the company for women, but its policy is to seek

out the best in all individuals – wherever or who-

ever they may be.

Grace Hu/Taiwan In 1994, Grace

Hu was already a 10-year employ-

ee of Avon Taiwan, working hap-

pily in the marketing department

as marketing coordination man-

ager. She was also happily expect-

ing her third child when she was

offered a career development

opportunity. She says, “I was

seven months pregnant and new

to sales. But Avon believed in me.

So I took the opportunity and

now I’m the regional sales man-

ager for northern Taiwan.

“We offer products for

women, we offer earnings oppor-

tunities for women, we offer

career paths for women. I’ve

never seen a company that cares

so much about women.”

Karina Dudek/Poland She’s been

with Avon Poland from day one –

literally. Karina Dudek’s Avon

career began seven years ago as

Avon Poland’s second representa-

tive and first zone manager. Now,

as the company’s public relations

support and training director,

Dudek remembers the advice she

received early on from a mentor

at Avon, “Just don’t be afraid to

make two mistakes a day. And I

take it seriously even now.” Dudek

also aspires to be a mentor to oth-

ers and encourages risk-taking.

She says, “My biggest satisfaction

is finding new people at the begin-

ning of their careers and helping

them to grow and develop.”
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AVON’S GLOBAL PORTFOLlO

DIRECT lNVESTMENT MARKETS

As the world’s leading direct seller of beauty and

related products, Avon’s global portfolio of 

businesses continues to expand. Avon has entered

19 new direct investment markets since 1990,

most recently Uruguay in 1998. Consumers now

have access to Avon products in 46 direct 

investment markets and through distributorships,

specially appointed representatives and licensees

in 89 other countries, including a significant 

presence in Egypt, Greece and Saudi Arabia.
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Sales in the Latin America Region in 1998 grew 10% to $1.665 
billion, but increased 19% excluding the impact of foreign currency
exchange. Brazil, Mexico, Argentina and Venezuela led the growth
as nearly all markets contributed to the sales gain. Market penetra-
tion advanced strongly during the year despite currency declines,
pricing pressures, intense competition, and the impact of “El Nino”
and Hurricane Mitch. Across the region, units were up 14%, cus-
tomers served rose 11%, and the number of active representatives
increased 19%.

Operating profit in Latin America in 1998 grew 23% to $344
million due to record operating profits in Brazil and Mexico and
gross and operating margin gains of 2.4 and 2.2 points, respectively,
for the total region.

Avon Brazil delivered an outstanding year as sales increased
13% (22% in local currency terms). Units, customers served, and
the number of active representatives all achieved double-digit gains.
Avon Brazil increased advertising and consumer sampling to sup-
port global brands and enjoyed particular success with Anew Night
Force, Perfect Wear Lipstick, and the fragrance Women of Earth.
Operating profit in Brazil in 1998 grew significantly to $100 mil-
lion, a record increase driven by the sales growth and substantial
gains in gross and operating margins. Competitive pricing strategies,

expense controls, improved inventory management, manufacturing
efficiencies, and enhanced systems and administrative processes all
contributed to the record operating profit performance.

In Mexico, sales in 1998 rose 8% and were up 26% in local
currency terms, despite weak consumer spending and severe pricing
pressures from competitors. Strategic pricing strategies, promotions
and incentives, and recruiting helped to generate 13% gains in both
units and the number of active representatives. Successful new
products introduced in Mexico in 1998 included Anew Night Force,
Women of Earth, and the local fragrance Yessamin. The apparel
and home categories also contributed sales gains. Avon Mexico
delivered its second consecutive year of record operating profit with
a 4% increase over last year’s results, despite a 22% depreciation
in the peso versus the U.S. dollar.

In Argentina, sales in 1998 rose 6%, with unit growth up 6%,
customers served up 9%, and the number of active representatives
up 7%.This performance was quite strong as the Argentine econo-
my slowed and disposable income declined. Management in
Argentina implemented field motivation and incentive programs to
sustain sales during the year. Operating profits increased slightly
over the last year, but were impacted by investments in marketing
and pricing to build market share. Argentina also increased costs
related to the launch of a new state-of-the-art shipping line to
improve distribution and service and prepare for future growth.

Avon Venezuela, despite threats of currency devaluation and a
weak economy, recorded double-digit increases in both sales and
operating profit in 1998. Market penetration initiatives, image
enhancement strategies, and public relations programs all helped to
generate nearly a 10% increase in units. Venezuela also delivered
solid gains in gross and operating margins. Avon Chile struggled
during the year with a weak economy and increasing unemployment.
Management responded with field strategies that generated a 15%
increase in local currency sales, driven by a 22% increase in the
number of active representatives and an 18% increase in units.

The other markets in the region faced economic deceleration in
1998 as well as the impact of “El Nino” and Hurricane Mitch.
Nonetheless, representative retention and motivation strategies 
and image-building programs helped generate a sales increase of
10% (16% in local currency) and operating profit growth of 
11% over 1997.

REVlEW OF OPERATlONS LATlN AMERlCA

1998 IN MILLIONS % CHANGE FROM 1997

Net Sales $1,665 +10%
Operating Profit $ 344 +23%

Women of Earth Night Force



Nineteen ninety-eight was an excellent year for Avon North
America, with sales and operating profit increasing 5% and 16%,
respectively, for the overall region.

Avon U.S., which accounts for almost 90% of the region’s
results, also posted sales and operating profit gains of 5% and
16%. During 1998, the U.S. delivered four consecutive quarters of
double-digit profit growth and its highest operating profit in recent
history.

Business Process Redesign (BPR) initiatives such as product
category management, improved pricing strategies and cost
improvements in both cosmetics, fragrances and toiletries (CFT)
and non-CFT lines helped support record improvements in gross and
operating margins. New manufacturing and sourcing decisions
resulted in consolidating North American jewelry manufacturing in
a single site in Puerto Rico and eliminating Avon’s Far East Buying
Office in Hong Kong.

In addition, supply chain reengineering, a 1% reduction in
returned goods, and other operating efficiencies helped the U.S. to
deliver $50 million in BPR savings in 1998. Approximately one-
third of these savings were reinvested to lay the foundation for
future sales growth, with the balance dropping to the bottom line.

Avon U.S. in 1998 advanced its customer growth strategies in
beauty, direct selling contemporization, and new customer access.
Sales of CFT products rose 4% with solid performances in color,
fragrance, and personal care.The jewelry and accessories and home
entertainment categories both recorded double-digit sales gains.

In direct selling contemporization, Avon U.S. launched programs
to provide representatives with enhanced opportunities for career
development, an improved earning opportunity, and better service.
For example, more than 6,000 representatives in August attended
the first-ever National Avon Representative Convention in Orlando
to participate in training programs related to building an entrepre-
neurial business.

Avon U.S. also eliminated Sponsorship, a costly and unproduc-
tive recruiting program, and relaunched the improved Leadership
Opportunity. Leadership offers a multi-level recruiting option for
representatives who want to expand their business by recruiting and
managing their own sales unit.

The U.S. also began testing new services for supporting repre-
sentatives. Electronic order submission via personal computer and
ordering over the Internet are two examples of service technologies
that will roll-out in 1999.

Moreover, Avon U.S. launched pilots of complementary access
strategies for reaching new customers, generating incremental sales,
and supporting the representatives’ business. For example, a new
Express Center, which provides same-day service to representatives
and introduces new customers to Avon, was opened in Washington,
D.C.Two more Express Centers – in Boston and Detroit – are
planned to open in early 1999, bringing the total number to five.

The U.S. also launched 39 Avon Beauty Centers in shopping
malls across the country during the latter part of 1998.These free-
standing kiosks enhance Avon’s brand image, encourage customer
trial, and generate new customer leads for area representatives.
Additional Avon Beauty Centers will launch during the first half of
1999 as part of an expanded test.

In the Dominican Republic, despite Hurricane Georges, Avon
enjoyed a stellar year with double-digit increases in sales, units, cus-
tomers served, the number of active representatives, and operating
profit. Avon Puerto Rico delivered healthy sales growth and began
constructing a new office and warehousing facility that incorporates
a contemporized shipping line.

In Canada, implementation of field fundamentals generated
increases in the number of active representatives, units, and cus-
tomers served. Marketing and sales programs helped overcome the
impact of severe winter ice storms. Gross margin improved due to
better pricing, sourcing savings, operational efficiencies, and product
category management.

NORTH AMERlCA

1998 IN MILLIONS % CHANGE FROM 1997

Net Sales $2,062 +5%
Operating Profit $ 343 +16%

Avon Spa Collection Avon Color



Avon’s markets in the Pacific Region delivered a resilient local cur-
rency performance in 1998 despite weak economic conditions, high
unemployment, and low levels of consumer spending.

Sales in the region fell 20% to $623 million, but excluding the
impact of foreign currency exchange and China – where the compa-
ny’s business suffered a two-month disruption to operations in the
spring – sales were up slightly. Key business indicators demonstrated
the region’s underlying strength. Excluding China, the number of
active representatives rose 5% and customers served were up 15%.

The region’s operating profit for the year declined 7% in dollar
terms but rose 19% in local currencies. Excluding China, local cur-
rency operating profit increased 30%. Japan led the strong profit
improvement, and Taiwan and Australia contributed double-digit
profit gains. Business Process Redesign (BPR) initiatives supported
the region’s profitability. Disciplined cost control, regional compo-
nent and ingredient sourcing, and product mix management were
among the measures which generated significant savings.

In Japan, sales were soft due to the continuing severe recession.
Operating profits, however, more than tripled the 1997 level due to
gross margin expansion and expense reductions. Operating expenses
fell 19% during the year due to initiatives such as the redesign of
shipping systems, size-of-line reductions, improved inventory man-
agement, and other programs.

In the Philippines, sales in local currency terms increased 10%
despite poor economic conditions and extensive typhoon damage.
Management increased the number of access points for represen-
tatives and improved training and motivation.These actions led to a 
15% increase in the number of active representatives and a 27%
increase in the number of customers. Avon Philippines also strength-
ened its leadership market share position in CFT and direct selling.
Operating profit was up 11% in local currency, but down in dollars
due to the currency devaluation.

In Taiwan, sales were about flat in dollars but rose 16% in local
currency terms as the number of active representatives increased by
19%.This was driven by sales development initiatives, increased
sales force segmentation, and high-profile launches of global brands.
Operating profit grew in the double-digits driven by the improvement
in operating margin.

In China, sales and operating profit declined in 1998 due to the
temporary disruption of Avon’s operations in the second quarter. On
April 21, the government ordered all direct-selling companies to
cease business activities due to its concern about the unethical prac-
tices of some companies.

On June 15, Avon was the first direct selling company to be re-
licensed as a wholesale/retail business. Sales are now generated
through 15,000 store dealers and 11,000 preferred customers in
the new model. At year-end, sales growth was running at just over
50% of the pre-ban rate.

In September, Avon China received permission from the govern-
ment to utilize “sales promoters” at most of its 75 branches
throughout the country.This is a positive development for the com-
pany’s future prospects in China, which remains a significant long-
term growth opportunity for Avon.

In November, Avon China opened its new $40 million manufac-
turing plant in Conghua, which will produce cosmetics, fragrance
and toiletry (CFT) products for China as well as export products
such as talc to the U.S., Canada and possibly Europe.

In 1998, Australia and New Zealand delivered their third con-
secutive year of local currency growth, with sales and operating pro-
fit of the combined markets increasing 8% and 30%, respectively.
Avon markets in Malaysia,Thailand and Indonesia declined in 1998
due to economic volatility and political and social unrest.These
markets responded with expense controls, representative recruiting
drives, and access strategies. Avon India, which opened in
September 1996, increased representative recruiting and introduced
enhanced services for customers. Avon India also expanded beyond
New Delhi in April with the opening of a new branch in Bombay.
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PAClFlC

1998 IN MILLIONS % CHANGE FROM 1997

Net Sales $623 -20%
Operating Profit $  63 -7%



EUROPE

Despite the devaluation of the Russian ruble, sales in the Europe
Region increased 6% to $863 million in 1998. Excluding the
impact of foreign currency exchange, sales in Europe rose 10%, dri-
ven by growth in the United Kingdom and continuing expansion in
the markets of Central and Eastern Europe.The region’s sales
growth was generated largely by a 10% increase in the number of
active representatives.

Operating profit in Europe in 1998 increased 18%. Excluding
the impact of Russia, which posted a sizable loss in the second half
of the year, operating profit rose 38% over 1997.The strong profit
performance was due to the region’s overall sales growth, improved
operating margins in the U.K. and most Western European markets,
and continuing profitable growth in Central and Eastern Europe.

The emerging markets of Central and Eastern Europe delivered
another year of accelerating growth. Excluding Russia, sales in
these markets climbed 81% in local currencies as the number of
active representatives jumped more than 60% and units rose more
than 40%. Global brands now account for 85% of total sales in the
Central and Eastern markets, up from 55% last year. Operating
profits in these markets more than tripled from last year’s results.

Poland in particular posted stand-out sales and profits as the
number of active representatives grew to over 36,000. Units and
customers served also increased significantly, aided by improved
brand awareness, which is now 20% higher versus two years ago.
Avon now ranks among the top three make-up brands in Poland.

Avon Hungary in 1998 became that country’s market leader in
the cosmetics and skin care categories, with 32% and 28% market
shares, respectively. Combined with its already dominant share in
fragrance, Avon Hungary now holds an 11% share of the country’s
total cosmetics, fragrance and toiletries (CFT) market.The Czech
Republic and Slovakia both delivered double-digit growth in sales
and operating profit during the year. Romania and the Ukraine com-
pleted their first year of operations in 1998 with solid sales.

In Russia, sales declined in dollars due to the devaluation of the
ruble in August. In local currency terms, however, sales increased
26% as management in Russia focused on aggressive recruiting,
pricing strategies, and expense controls to manage through the eco-
nomic turmoil. Although units and the size of the average order
were down due to weakened consumer purchasing power, the number
of active representatives increased to over 46,000 and market 
penetration expanded. Avon Russia finished the year with a small
operating profit.

In the markets of Western Europe, sales were up slightly in 1998
and operating profit increased 26%, as Business Process Redesign
(BPR) initiatives enhanced operating margin by 2.5 points.The
U.K. led the gains with a solid single-digit sales increase and a sub-
stantial double-digit increase in operating profit. Gains in the num-
ber of active representatives, the size of the average order, and
improving brand awareness contributed to the sales growth.
Significant increases in gross and operating margins generated the
profit increase, making 1998 the second consecutive year of double-
digit profit growth in the U.K.

Germany and Italy also recorded improved profit growth due to
more efficient operations. In Spain and Portugal, gains in the num-
ber of units and active representatives generated single-digit sales
growth, which contributed to improved operating profit performance
in both countries. France had declines in sales and operating profits.

Naturals Anew Clearly C

1998 IN MILLIONS % CHANGE FROM 1997

Net Sales $863 +6%
Operating Profit $109 +18%
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MANAGEMENT’S DlSCUSSlON AND ANALYSlS

The following discussion of the results of operations and financial
condition of Avon Products, Inc. (“Avon” or “Company”) should 
be read in conjunction with the information contained in the
Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto.These state-
ments have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles and require management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect amounts reported and disclosed in the
financial statements and related notes. Actual results could differ
from these estimates.

All share and per share data included in this report have been
restated to reflect two-for-one stock splits distributed in September
1998 and June 1996.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT
Certain statements in this report which are not historical facts or
information are forward-looking statements within the meaning of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including, but
not limited to, the information set forth herein. Such forward-look-
ing statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other factors which may cause the actual results, levels of activity,
performance or achievement of the Company, or industry results, to
be materially different from any future results, levels of activity,
performance or achievement expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements. Such factors include, among others, the follow-
ing: general economic and business conditions; the ability of the
Company to implement its business strategy; the Company’s access
to financing and its management of foreign currency risks; the
Company’s ability to successfully identify new business opportuni-
ties; the Company’s ability to attract and retain key executives; the
Company’s ability to achieve anticipated cost savings and prof-
itability targets; the impact of substantial currency exchange deval-
uations in the Company’s principal foreign markets; changes in the
industry; competition; the effect of regulatory and legal restrictions
imposed by foreign governments; the effect of regulatory and legal
proceedings and other factors discussed in Item 1 of the Company’s
Form 10-K. As a result of the foregoing and other factors, no
assurance can be given as to the future results and achievements of
the Company. Neither the Company nor any other person assumes
responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of these statements.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Consolidated > Net income in 1998 was $270.0 compared with
$338.8 in 1997. Basic and diluted earnings per share in 1998 were
$1.03 and $1.02, respectively, compared with $1.28 and $1.27,
respectively, in 1997.

Special and non-recurring charges were recorded in the first and
third quarters of 1998 for the Company’s previously announced
business process redesign program.These charges totaled $154.4
pretax, which reduced net income by $122.8 after tax, or $.46 per
share on a basic and diluted basis. See Note 13 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of this
program. Before the charges, net income for the year ended
December 31, 1998 of $392.8 increased 16% over 1997. Earnings
per share before the charges of $1.49 and $1.48 on a basic and
diluted basis, respectively, increased 16% and 17%, respectively,
from the comparable period in 1997.The 1997 results include the
favorable settlement of a value-added tax claim in the United
Kingdom equal to approximately $26.5 on a pretax basis.The
$26.5 gain represents a $20.6 settlement of disputed value-added
tax charges from prior years, which is included in other (income)
expense, net and $5.9 of interest which is included in interest
income.The net effect of this gain was to increase 1997 net income
by $16.7 and both basic and diluted earnings per share by $.06.
Net income for 1996 was $317.9 and basic and diluted earnings
per share were $1.19 and $1.18, respectively.

Excluding the charges, operating profit was $633.9, or 17% over
1997 due to higher sales and an improved gross margin, partially
offset by a higher operating expense ratio in 1998. Excluding the
impact of foreign exchange, operating profit increased 27% over
1997.The improvement in operating profit combined with a favor-
able foreign exchange impact was partially mitigated by the 1997
value-added tax settlement in the United Kingdom. As a result,
pretax income, before the charges, rose $75.4, or 14%, over 1997.
Net income was also impacted by a lower effective tax rate in
1998 and by favorable minority interest due mainly to the results 
in China.

On a consolidated basis, Avon’s net sales of $5.21 billion increased
3% from $5.08 billion in 1997. Sales in North America increased
5% to $2.06 billion primarily due to a 5% increase in the U.S.
attributable mainly to a higher average order size. International
sales increased 1% to $3.15 billion from $3.11 billion due to
strong growth in Latin America, most significantly in Brazil,
Mexico, Argentina and Venezuela, as well as in Europe reflecting
improvements in the United Kingdom and Poland.These increases

Avon Products, Inc.
Dollars in millions, except share data
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were partially offset by sales declines in the Pacific, most signifi-
cantly in Japan, China and the Philippines. Excluding the impact of
foreign exchange, consolidated net sales rose 9% over the prior
year. In 1997, consolidated net sales of $5.08 billion increased 6%
from $4.81 billion in 1996. International sales increased 7% to
$3.11 billion from $2.92 billion in 1996 due to strong growth in
Latin America, most significantly in Mexico, Argentina, Chile and
Venezuela, and in the United Kingdom, Russia, Central Europe 
and the Pacific Rim, primarily Taiwan and the Philippines.These
improvements were partially offset by sales declines in Germany,
Brazil and Japan. Sales in North America increased 4% to 
$1.97 billion primarily due to the 1997 acquisition of Discovery
Toys and an increase in the U.S. average order size partially offset
by a decrease in the number of Representative orders. Excluding the
impact of foreign currency exchange, 1997 consolidated net sales
rose 10% over 1996.

Cost of sales as a percentage of sales was 39.4% in 1998, com-
pared with 40.4% in 1997.The 1998 cost of sales includes $37.9
of a non-recurring charge for inventory write-downs related to the
Company’s business process redesign program.The charge relates to
the closure of facilities, discontinuation of certain product lines,
size-of-line reductions and a change in strategy for product disposi-
tions. See Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for further discussion of these charges. Excluding the
charge, cost of sales as a percentage of sales was 38.7%, a 1.7
point improvement from 1997.This improvement was primarily due
to a higher margin in Brazil, reflecting actions taken in 1997 to
reduce inventory levels combined with cost reduction programs in
1998. Additionally, the gross margin in Venezuela improved as a
result of pricing strategies and business redesign efforts. Japan’s
gross margin improved as a result of cost reduction initiatives, and
the U.S. improved its margin through pricing strategies, cost
improvements and reduced clearance activity in the non-cosmetics,
fragrance and toiletries categories. In 1997, cost of sales as a per-
centage of sales was 40.4%, compared with 39.9% in 1996.The
decline in gross margin was primarily due to unfavorable cost ratios
in Japan, resulting from an aggressive pricing strategy and a shift in
sales mix to lower-margin items, and in Brazil, reflecting a consumer
shift towards lower-priced products as well as actions taken to
reduce inventory levels.These declines were partially offset by a
margin improvement in the United Kingdom due to a shift in sales
mix to higher-margin items.

Marketing, distribution and administrative expenses of $2.56 billion
increased $79.4, or 3%, from 1997 and increased as a percentage
of sales to 49.2% from 48.9% in 1997. Increased operating
expenses in the U.S. were attributable primarily to the sales growth.
Operating expenses grew in Brazil in 1998 due to higher sales and
increased marketing programs. Mexico’s operating expenses were
higher in 1998 reflecting sales growth driven by increased incentive
programs and higher brochure costs to support the growth in
Representatives.These increases were partially offset by lower

expenses in the Pacific due to lower sales and the impact of curren-
cy devaluations.The overall increase in the expense ratio was due to
higher expense ratios in Mexico due to increased marketing and pro-
motional expenses associated with new product launches, in
Venezuela due to increased administrative expenses as a result of
the implementation of a new labor law, in Argentina due to
increased marketing expenses and in China reflecting the shutdown
of sales operations for most of the second quarter of 1998. In
1997, marketing, distribution and administrative expenses of $2.48
billion increased $136.1, or 6%, from 1996 and increased slightly
as a percentage of sales to 48.9% from 48.8% in 1996.The
increase in operating expenses was attributed to markets which had
experienced strong sales growth, including Mexico, the United
Kingdom, Russia,Taiwan and Venezuela. Operating expenses in the
U.S. increased due to higher strategic spending in advertising and
promotional support for new launches, the national rollout of Avon
Home and costs associated with the centralization of certain opera-
tional areas. In addition, operating expenses in China were higher
due to expenses incurred in preparation for the planned opening of
24 new branches during 1997 which were not put into operation
because of new government recertification requirements on direct
selling activities.These increases were partially offset by lower
expenses in Germany due mainly to the impact of a stronger U.S.
dollar in 1997.

Special charges of $116.5 were recorded in 1998 for the
Company’s business process redesign program.These charges are
primarily related to employee severance benefits and facility 
rationalizations in Puerto Rico, the Dominican Republic, Hong Kong
and China as well as asset write-downs associated with the 
divestiture of the Discovery Toys business unit. See Note 13 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion
of these charges.

Interest expense in 1998 of $41.0 was $.8 favorable to prior year
due to lower cost of borrowings. Interest expense in 1997 of $41.8
increased $1.8 compared to 1996 primarily due to increased
domestic debt levels partially offset by lower average debt out-
standing in Brazil in 1997.

Interest income in 1998 of $15.9 decreased $.8 compared to
1997 primarily due to the interest portion of the 1997 favorable
value-added tax settlement in the United Kingdom, partially 
offset by a Mexico tax refund claim, as well as higher interest rates
and increased average short-term investments in Brazil in 1998.
Interest income in 1997 of $16.7 increased $2.2 compared to 1996
due to the interest portion of the value-added tax settlement in the
United Kingdom partially offset by lower interest rates in Brazil
and lower cash investment levels in the U.S.



Other (income) expense, net, was $14.4 unfavorable to 1997.
Excluding the 1997 value-added tax settlement in the United
Kingdom, other (income) expense, net was $6.2 favorable primarily
due to favorable foreign exchange. In 1997, other (income) expense,
net, was $24.8 favorable to 1996 due to the $20.6 portion of the
value-added tax settlement in the United Kingdom as well as lower
foreign exchange losses in 1997.

Income taxes were $190.8 in 1998 and the effective tax rate was
41.9% compared with $197.9 and an effective tax rate of 37.0%
in 1997. Excluding the effect of the special and non-recurring
charges, income taxes were $222.4 and the effective tax rate was
36.4%.The 36.4% effective tax rate was lower in 1998 due 
to the mix of earnings and income tax rates of the international 

subsidiaries. In 1997, the effective tax rate was 37.0% compared
with 37.5% in 1996.The effective tax rate was lower in 1997 due
to the mix of earnings and income tax rates of international sub-
sidiaries.

Inflation in the United States has remained at a relatively low level
during the last three years and has not had a major effect on Avon’s
results of operations. Many countries in which Avon has operations
have experienced higher rates of inflation than the United States.
Mexico, Venezuela and Russia experienced high cumulative rates of
inflation over the three-year period 1996 through 1998. However,
Mexico will be converted to non-hyperinflationary status beginning
January 1, 1999 due to reduced cumulative inflation rates during
the past three years.

Below is an analysis of the key factors affecting net sales and operating profit by reportable segment for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 1998.

Years ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Net Operating Net Operating Net Operating
Sales Profit Sales Profit Sales Profit

North America:
U.S. $1,774.0 $ 302.8 $1,696.7 $ 261.8 $ 1,672.5 $ 267.4
Other 287.6 40.2 275.4 35.1 224.3 34.4
Total 2,061.6 343.0 1,972.1 296.9 1,896.8 301.8

International*
Latin America 1,665.1 344.4 1,513.3 280.0 1,385.6 273.3
Pacific 623.3 62.5 782.4 67.0 751.1 77.0
Europe 862.7 108.5 811.6 91.7 780.7 67.4
Total 3,151.1 515.4 3,107.3 438.7 2,917.4 417.7

Total from operations $5,212.7 858.4 $5,079.4 735.6 $ 4,814.2 719.5

Global expenses (224.5) (191.5) (174.7)
Special and non-recurring charges (154.4) — —

Operating profit $ 479.5 $ 544.1 $ 544.8

* Excludes Canada, Dominican Republic and Puerto Rico which are now included in North America.
Note: 1997 and 1996 data have been restated to reflect the Company’s segments on an operating profit basis. See Note 11 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further details.
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North America > Sales in North America increased 5% to $2.06
billion and operating profit increased 16% to $343.0 in 1998.The
U.S. business, which represents almost 90% of the North American
segment, reported sales and operating profit growth of 5% and
16%, respectively. Sales growth in the U.S. reflected a 4% increase
in the average order size coupled with a 1% increase in the number
of Representative orders.The sales improvement resulted from
increases in fashion jewelry and accessories, cosmetics, fragrance
and toiletries (“CFT”) and home entertainment categories partially
offset by a decline in the gift and decorative category. Sales of fash-
ion jewelry and accessories rose significantly over the prior year,
primarily in the accessories segment, with the success of such prod-
ucts as organizer handbags, the Home Run Hero watch introduced
in the fourth quarter and increased sales of licensed products,
including Winnie the Pooh carryalls and sports watches. Growth in
the CFT category was driven by successful launches of Rare Rubies,
Anew Retinol Hand Complex, and the Diane Von Furstenberg fra-
grance, Forest Lily. In addition, the success of Avon’s transfer resis-
tant technology lipstick and Avon Color’s Spring Shade Collection 
combined with continued growth of the Avon Techniques hair care
and Skin-So-Soft lines contributed to the growth in CFT. Higher
sales in the home entertainment category were driven by the launch
of a collection of inspirational and religious products, as well as an
increase in the sales of demonstration products purchased by
Representatives.These increases were partially offset by a decline in
the gift and decorative category resulting from the phasing out of
the Avon Home line and lower sales of Barbie and holiday products
in 1998.The improvement in U.S. operating profit was mainly a
result of the above sales increase combined with a favorable gross
margin driven by cost improvements, revised pricing strategies and
reduced clearance activity.

In 1997, North American sales increased 4% to $1.97 billion and
operating profit decreased 2% to $296.9. Sales in the U.S. seg-
ment rose 1% to $1.70 billion and operating profit decreased 2%
to $261.8.The 1% sales growth reflected a 3% increase in average
order size partially offset by a 2% decrease in the number of
Representative orders. Units sold in the U.S. increased 4% over
1996.The U.S. sales improvement resulted from increases in the
CFT and gift and decorative categories partially offset by declines
in apparel.The growth in the CFT category was driven by the
launches of Anew Retinol Recovery Complex and Avon Techniques
hair care line in addition to the first quarter 1997 product intro-
ductions in the specialty bath segment, such as California Bath and
the Soft and Sensual line extension of the Skin-So-Soft brand.
Additionally, the renovated Anew launch in early 1997 contributed
to higher CFT sales.The continued success of the seasonal Barbie
dolls, the launch of Avon Home and the success of the Mattel line of
toys led to the increase in gift and decorative sales. Apparel sales
were lower in 1997 due to the success of the Olympic Games collec-
tion in 1996 and lower sales of demonstration products in the first
two quarters of 1997.The decrease in operating profit resulted

from a lower gross margin and a higher operating expense ratio.The
decline in gross margin was due to strategic price investments in
CFT products aimed at energizing customer sales and the addition
of Avon Home, a lower-margin new business.The unfavorable oper-
ating expense ratio was driven by higher expenses related to adver-
tising and promotional support for new products, costs associated
with the centralization of the returned goods and call center opera-
tions and increased field incentives designed to drive sales. In addi-
tion, operational costs associated with higher returned goods pro-
cessing in 1997 contributed to the unfavorable expense ratio.

International > International sales increased 1% to $3.15 billion
and operating profit increased 17% to $515.4 from $438.7 in
1997.The sales growth resulted from strong growth in Latin America,
particularly in Brazil, Mexico, Argentina and Venezuela, as well as
in Europe reflecting improvements in the United Kingdom and
Poland.These results were significantly offset by sales declines in
the Pacific, most significantly in Japan, China and the Philippines.
Excluding the impact of foreign currency exchange, international
sales rose 11% and operating profit increased 30% over 1997.

In Latin America, sales increased 10% to $1.67 billion and operat-
ing profit increased 23%, or $64.4, to $344.4 in 1998.The sales
improvement resulted from strong growth in Brazil and, to a lesser
extent, Mexico, Argentina and Venezuela. Brazil’s growth in sales
was driven by attractive pricing and successful new product launch-
es, which resulted in strong double-digit increases in units and
orders in 1998. Additionally, the number of active Representatives
rose 31% from 1997. Mexico’s sales increase was driven by 
successful new product launches including Anew Night Force,
Yessamin fragrance and Women of Earth, as well as increases in
the apparel and home line extensions which offered superior design
and promotions in 1998. Argentina and Venezuela reported strong
increases in units, orders and customers served. Excluding the
impact of foreign currency exchange, sales in Latin America rose
19% over 1997.The increase in the region’s operating profit was
primarily due to favorable results in Brazil attributable to the
strong sales increase and an improved gross margin and operating
expense ratio. Brazil’s gross margin improvement resulted from
actions taken in 1997 to reduce inventory levels as well as better
vendor negotiations and continued cost reduction programs in
1998.The favorable operating expense ratio was driven by the
strong sales increase. Operating profit improvements in Mexico due
to the sales increase, and in Venezuela due to pricing strategies and
business redesign efforts, contributed to the region’s growth in oper-
ating profit. Excluding the impact of foreign currency exchange,
operating profit in Latin America increased 34% over the prior year.



In the Pacific Region, sales decreased 20% to $623.3 in 1998 and
operating profit decreased 7% to $62.5 from $67.0 in 1997.The
decline in sales resulted from decreases in every major market,
most significantly in Japan, China and the Philippines.The Asian
currency and economic crisis which began in mid-1997 continued
throughout 1998 and negatively impacted results in the Pacific.The
general economic environment is poor with low consumer confi-
dence and reduced spending. Excluding the impact of foreign cur-
rency exchange, sales decreased 3%, a 17 point differential from
U.S. dollar reported results. In addition, selling activities in China
were suspended for most of the second quarter of 1998 due to gov-
ernmental restrictions on direct-selling companies. As of the begin-
ning of June, the Company received Chinese governmental approval
to resume operations as a wholesale and retail business and became
operational again in mid-June.The Company converted its branches
into retail outlets to serve customers and received approval to uti-
lize sales promoters, much like Representatives, to promote product
sales in China. Despite the above difficulties, most markets showed
growth in active Representatives and number of customers served
resulting from a strong focus on active recruitment to expand the
Representative base throughout the region.The Philippines posted
double-digit increases in orders, customers served and active
Representatives. Local currency sales in the Philippines increased
10% over the prior year.The decrease in the region’s operating
profit resulted primarily from declines discussed above. Despite the
sales decline, Japan’s operating profit increased significantly over
the prior year as a result of improvements in gross margin and oper-
ating expense ratio. Japan’s margin improvements resulted from
cost reduction strategies and the elimination of many lower-margin
products in 1998. Additionally, business process redesign efforts
have resulted in lower operating expenses. Excluding the impact of
foreign currency exchange, operating profit in the Pacific increased
19% from 1997.

In the Europe Region, sales increased 6% to $862.7 and operating
profit increased $16.8, or 18%, to $108.5 in 1998.The sales
increase was primarily due to growth in the United Kingdom result-
ing from a higher average order size in 1998.The United Kingdom
continues to focus on developing the core business through
Representatives, growth in orders and customers as well as brand
awareness and image enhancement. In addition, Poland’s sales
increased significantly from 1997 as a result of dramatic growth 
in active Representatives and all business fundamentals including
units, orders and customers served.These improvements were 
partially offset by sales shortfalls in Russia attributable to the
devaluation of the Russian ruble in August 1998. Average orders
have declined significantly in Russia due to low consumer purchas-
ing power. In response to this situation, several actions have been
taken by local management including pricing flexibility to maintain

and build market share and reduce credit sales, as well as a tighten-
ing of expense controls. Geographic expansion into new cities has
also been deferred.The devaluation negatively affected Russia’s
U.S. dollar results in 1998. Excluding the impact of foreign curren-
cy exchange, sales in Europe and Russia increased 10% and 26%,
respectively, from prior year.The increase in the region’s operating
profit was due to the overall sales increase combined with an
improved operating margin in the United Kingdom. A shift in sales
mix to higher-margin items contributed to a gross margin improve-
ment, and continued active expense management led to a favorable
operating expense ratio in the United Kingdom.These increases
were partially offset by operating profit declines in Russia mainly
due to the devaluation of the ruble discussed above. Excluding the
impact of foreign currency exchange, operating profit in Europe
increased 25% over 1997.

In 1997, international sales increased 7% to $3.11 billion and
operating profit increased 5% to $438.7.The sales increase reflect-
ed strong growth in Latin America, particularly in Mexico,
Argentina, Chile and Venezuela, and in the United Kingdom, Russia,
Central Europe and the Pacific Rim, most significantly in Taiwan
and the Philippines.These improvements were partially offset by
sales declines in Germany, Brazil and Japan, discussed below.
Excluding the impact of foreign currency exchange, international
sales grew 13% over 1996.

In Latin America, 1997 sales increased 9% to $1.51 billion and
operating profit increased 2%, or $6.7, to $280.0 from $273.3 in
1996.The sales improvement was driven by tremendous growth in
Mexico reflecting strong increases in the number of orders, average
order size and active Representatives primarily due to customer
growth initiatives.These initiatives included incentive programs
focused on retention, increased sampling on breakthrough products
such as Anew Vitamin C, increased advertising and an emphasis on
market penetration in metropolitan areas.The sales increase in the
region also reflected significant unit growth in Argentina and Chile
and an increased average order size in Venezuela. In addition,
Central American markets posted strong sales increases in 1997
attributable to growth in units and active Representatives.These
improvements were partially offset by a significant sales decline in
Brazil. In 1997, consumers in Brazil experienced a tightening of
credit which limited their purchasing ability resulting in declines in
units sold and active Representatives.To improve Representative
count, aggressive retention and achievement programs were imple-
mented including incentives and premiums to improve activity and
order size. Excluding the impact of foreign currency exchange, sales
in Latin America were up 15% over 1996.The increase in the
region’s operating profit was primarily due to favorable results in 
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Mexico reflecting the strong sales increase, described above, com-
bined with a favorable operating expense ratio. In addition, operat-
ing profits were higher in Argentina and Chile due mainly to the
sales growth.These improvements were partially offset by a lower
operating profit in Brazil due to a significant gross margin decline
and an unfavorable operating expense ratio.The gross margin
decline resulted from a shift in consumer preferences towards lower-
priced products and margin investments relating to inventory reduc-
tion efforts.The unfavorable operating expense ratio in Brazil was
driven by the sales decline. Actions were taken in Brazil to reduce
manufacturing and customer service costs, negotiate better terms
and costs with vendors and introduce more global products with a
higher price and improved margin.

In the Pacific Region, 1997 sales increased 4% to $782.4 and
operating profit decreased 13% to $67.0 from $77.0 in 1996.The
increase in sales was driven by operational improvements in the
Pacific Rim, most significantly in Taiwan and the Philippines.
Growth in units, customers served and active Representatives was
significant in both Taiwan and the Philippines.Taiwan’s sales perfor-
mance was the strongest in the region resulting from successful
merchandising campaigns, product launches supported by strong
advertising and promotional activities, including the introduction of
Lighten Up Undereye Treatment and effective field sales programs
in 1997.The sales growth in the Philippines was driven by success-
ful new and extended CFT lines, a new line of children’s apparel and
an additional service center in 1997.These improvements were par-
tially offset by a significant sales decline in Japan due primarily to
an unfavorable exchange impact of a stronger U.S. dollar in 1997
and a reduction in the average order size. Excluding the impact of
foreign currency exchange, sales in the Pacific were up 14%.The
decrease in the region’s operating profit resulted from declines in
Japan and, to a lesser extent, in China.The gross margin in Japan
declined significantly as a result of strategic pricing programs as
well as a shift in sales mix to lower-margin non-CFT items.The
competitive environment remained intense in Japan with the contin-
ued relaxation of import restrictions and the accelerated growth in
discount outlets. As a result, prices were adjusted in early 1997 to
make products more competitive in the marketplace. Efforts were
focused on restructuring the business in Japan for improved prof-
itability, including innovative recruiting programs, enhanced adver-
tising campaigns and new systems focused on improving customer
access. Despite sales growth in China, operating profits declined due
to the government licensing revalidation process of all direct selling
companies. As a result, no new branches were opened in 1997, but
the expense base associated with the planned expansions negatively
impacted China’s operating profit.The region’s operating profit was
also negatively impacted by currency devaluations throughout
Southeast Asia.

Several currencies in the Pacific Rim devalued significantly during
1997.The Thai baht devalued by 57%, the Philippine peso by 34%,
the Malaysian ringgit by 39% and the Indonesian rupiah by 61%.
These devaluations lowered pretax income by approximately $7.0
for the full year. In response to this situation, several actions were
taken by local management, including cost negotiations with ven-
dors and a focus on growing the Representative base. In terms of
size, these markets represented approximately 5% of Avon’s consol-
idated net sales in 1997.

In the Europe Region, 1997 sales increased 4% to $811.6 and
operating profit increased $24.3, or 36%, to $91.7.The sales
increase was primarily due to strong growth in the United Kingdom
resulting from an increased average order size, unit growth and a
favorable exchange rate impact.The sales growth in the United
Kingdom was also attributable to a focus on improving market
share through brand and image enhancement. Customers were
spending more in 1997 as a function of the improvement in image
and the quality of the Avon brochure.The European sales improve-
ment was also driven by unit and active Representative growth in
Russia and in Central Europe, primarily Poland. Russia continued to
exceed expectations as the most successful startup market in Avon’s
history. Russia’s success was attributable to a strong Representative
structure, geographic expansion into new cities, installation of new
assembly lines which increased capacity and investment in system
upgrades to support the sales growth.These improvements were par-
tially offset by sales shortfalls in Germany resulting from an unfa-
vorable exchange impact of a stronger U.S. dollar in 1997 and a
weak economic environment which led to lower consumer spending
and higher unemployment. Excluding the impact of foreign currency
exchange, sales in Europe increased 11% over 1996.The increase
in operating profit was mainly due to the overall sales increase and
an improved gross margin in the United Kingdom resulting from a
favorable product mix of higher-margin items in 1997. Additionally,
the continued effect of expense reduction efforts in Europe con-
tributed to a lower operating expense ratio.

See Foreign Operations section under Liquidity and Capital
Resources for additional discussion.

Global Expenses > Global expenses were $224.5 in 1998 com-
pared with $191.5 in 1997.The $33.0 increase reflected increased
expenses in 1998 associated with information technology system
and global marketing initiatives and higher expenses for incentive
compensation programs primarily due to the improved operating
results in 1998. In 1997, global expenses were $16.8 unfavorable
compared with 1996 primarily due to process redesign and system
initiatives.



Accounting Changes > Effective January 1, 1998, the Company
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”)
No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income”.This statement estab-
lishes standards for the reporting and presentation of comprehen-
sive income and its components in a full set of financial statements.
As shown in the statements of changes in shareholders’ equity and
Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, compre-
hensive income includes all changes in equity during a period,
except those resulting from investments by and distributions to the
Company’s stockholders. As this standard only requires additional
information in the financial statements, it does not affect the
Company’s results of operations or financial position.

Effective January 1, 1998, the Company adopted FAS No. 131,
“Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information”, which changes the way the Company reports informa-
tion about its operating segments.The information for 1997 and
1996 has been restated from that previously reported in order to
conform with the current year’s presentation. FAS No. 131 requires
a new basis, entitled the management approach, for determining
reportable segments.This approach is based on the way manage-
ment organizes segments within a company for making operating
decisions and assessing performance. FAS No. 131 also establishes
standards for supplemental disclosure about products and services,
geographical areas and major customers. Segment results for the
three years ended December 31, 1998 are presented in Note 11 of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Effective January 1, 1998, the Company adopted FAS No. 132,
“Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement
Benefits”. FAS No. 132 standardizes the disclosure requirements
for pensions and other postretirement benefits, although it does not
impact the measurement or recognition of those benefits.There was
no impact on the Company’s results of operations or financial posi-
tion in adopting this statement. Prior years’ information has been
restated to conform with the requirements of FAS No. 132.

Effective January 1, 1998, the Company adopted AICPA Statement
of Position (“SOP”) No. 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. SOP
No. 98-1 requires certain costs in connection with developing or
obtaining internally used software to be capitalized that previously
would have been expensed as incurred.The adoption of SOP No.
98-1 did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of
operations, financial position or cash flows.

Effective December 31, 1997, the Company adopted FAS No. 128,
“Earnings per Share”. FAS No. 128 establishes standards for 
computing and presenting earnings per share (“EPS”) and replaces
the presentation of previously disclosed EPS with both basic and
diluted EPS. Based upon the Company’s capitalization structure,

the EPS amounts calculated in accordance with FAS No. 128
approximated the Company’s EPS amounts in accordance with
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 15, “Earnings per Share”.
All prior period EPS data have been restated in accordance with
FAS No. 128.

Effective January 1, 1996, the Company adopted the fair value 
disclosure requirements of FAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation”. As permitted by the statement, the Company
did not change the method of accounting for its employee stock
compensation plans. See Note 8 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for the fair value disclosures required under
FAS No. 123.

Recent Pronouncements > In June 1998, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board issued FAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”. FAS No. 133 is
effective for all fiscal quarters of all fiscal years beginning after
June 15, 1999 (January 1, 2000 for the Company). FAS No. 133
requires that all derivative instruments be recorded on the balance
sheet at their fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are
recorded each period in current earnings or other comprehensive
income, depending on whether a derivative is designated as part of a
hedge transaction. For fair-value hedge transactions in which the
Company is hedging changes in the fair value of an asset, liability or
firm commitment, changes in the fair value of the derivative instru-
ment will be included in the income statement along with the offset-
ting changes in the hedged item’s fair value. For cash-flow hedge
transactions in which the Company is hedging the variability of cash
flows related to a variable rate asset, liability or a forecasted trans-
action, changes in the fair value of the derivative instrument will be
reported in other comprehensive income.The gains and losses on the
derivative instruments that are reported in other comprehensive
income will be reclassified to earnings in the periods in which earn-
ings are impacted by the variability of the cash flows of the hedged
item.The ineffective portion of all of the hedges will be recognized
in current period earnings.The Company has not yet determined the
impact that the adoption of FAS No. 133 will have on its results of
operations or financial position.
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Contingencies > Although Avon has completed its divestiture of all
discontinued operations, various lawsuits and claims (asserted and
unasserted) are pending or threatened against Avon.The Company
is also involved in a number of proceedings arising out of the feder-
al Superfund law and similar state laws. In some instances, Avon,
along with other companies, has been designated as a potentially
responsible party which may be liable for costs associated with
these various hazardous waste sites. In the opinion of Avon’s man-
agement, based on its review of the information available at this
time, the difference, if any, between the total cost of resolving such
contingencies and reserves recorded by Avon at December 31, 1998
should not have a material adverse impact on Avon’s consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash Flows > Net cash provided by continuing operations was
$324.4 in 1998 compared to $315.5 in 1997.The 1998 increase
principally reflects, among other things, a lower working capital
level partially offset by lower adjusted net income.The lower fund-
ing of working capital included the 1997 settlement of tax issues in
the U.S. A more detailed analysis of the individual items contribut-
ing to the 1998 and 1997 amounts is included in the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows.

There was no cash used by discontinued operations in 1998 and
1997, compared to $38.2 in 1996.The $38.2 cash used in 1996
primarily reflected final payment of a settlement reached with a dis-
continued operation, Mallinckrodt, in December 1995.

Excluding changes in debt and other financing activities, net cash
usage of $117.6 in 1998 was $19.7 favorable compared to net
cash usage of $137.3 in 1997. During 1998 and 1997, the
Company received net proceeds of approximately $58.1 and $58.6,
respectively, under securities lending transactions which were used
to repay domestic commercial paper borrowings and are included in
the cash flows as other financing activities. See Note 4 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of these
transactions.The $19.7 variance reflects a favorable exchange rate
impact on cash and higher cash provided by continuing operations.
These sources were partially offset by higher capital expenditures
and increased dividend payouts in 1998. In 1997, excluding changes
in debt and other financing activities, there was a net increase in
cash usage of $130.7.This variance reflected lower cash provided
by continuing operations, higher capital expenditures and an unfa-
vorable exchange rate impact on cash.These uses were partially 
offset by the unfavorable impact of discontinued operations reflect-
ed in 1996 cash flows and lower repurchases of common stock 
in 1997. For the period 1994 through 1998, 32.1 million shares of
common stock have been purchased for approximately $641.5
under the stock repurchase programs. See Note 9 of the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements for further details of the stock
repurchase programs.

Working Capital > At December 31, 1998, current assets exceeded
current liabilities by $11.9 while at the end of 1997, current liabili-
ties exceeded current assets by $11.9.This increase of $23.8 is pri-
marily due to lower net debt (debt less cash and equivalents) which
resulted from the repayment of $100.0 reclassified as short-term
debt in 1997 on the 6-1/8% deutsche mark notes and lower
accounts payable. In addition, higher receivables, partially offset by
lower inventory levels, as discussed in the Inventories section, and
higher accrued compensation resulting from increased incentive
compensation expense in 1998 also contributed to the variance.

Avon’s liquidity results from its ability to generate significant cash
flows from operations and its ample unused borrowing capacity.
Avon’s credit agreements do not contain any provisions or require-
ments with respect to working capital.

Capital Resources > Total debt of $256.3 at December 31, 1998
increased $22.0 from $234.3 at December 31, 1997, compared
with an increase of $32.7 from December 31, 1996. In addition, at
December 31, 1998 and 1997, other non-current liabilities included
approximately $112.4 and $58.1, respectively, related to securities
lending activities. See Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for further discussion of these activities.
During 1998 and 1997, cash flows from continuing operations and
other financing activities combined with cash on hand and higher
debt levels were used for dividends, repurchase of common stock
and capital expenditures. During 1996, cash flows from continuing
operations and higher debt levels, partially offset by higher cash and
equivalents, were used for dividends, the stock repurchase program,
capital expenditures, a payment made related to discontinued opera-
tions and the purchase of a company in South Africa.

At December 31, 1998, debt maturing within one year consists of
borrowings from banks of $53.9 and the current maturities of long-
term debt of $1.4. Management believes that cash from operations
and available sources of financing are adequate to meet anticipated
requirements for working capital, dividends, capital expenditures,
the stock repurchase program and other cash needs.

In May 1998, Avon issued $100.0 of bonds embedded with option
features (the “bonds”) to pay down commercial paper borrowings.
The bonds have a twenty-year maturity; however, after five years,
the bonds, at the holder’s option, can be sold back to the Company
at par or can be called at par by the underwriter and resold to
investors as fifteen-year debt.The coupon rate on the bonds is
6.25% for the first five years, but will be refinanced at market
rates if the bonds are called in year five.



In connection with the bond issuance, Avon entered into a five-year
interest rate swap contract with a notional amount of $50.0 to
effectively convert fixed interest on a portion of the bonds to a vari-
able interest rate, based on LIBOR.

During 1997, the Company issued $100.0 of 6.55% notes, due
August 1, 2007 to pay down commercial paper borrowings.

During 1996, the Company entered into an agreement, which
expires in 2001, with various banks to amend and restate the 
five-year, $600.0 revolving credit and competitive advance facility 
agreement. Within this facility, the Company is able to borrow,
on an uncommitted basis, various foreign currencies.The new agree-
ment and the prior agreement are referred to, collectively, as the
credit facility.

The credit facility is primarily to be used to finance working capital,
provide support for the issuance of commercial paper and support
the stock repurchase program. At the Company’s option, the interest
rate on borrowings under the credit facility is based on LIBOR, prime
or federal fund rates.The credit facility has an annual facility fee of
$.4.The credit facility contains a covenant for interest coverage, as
defined.The Company is in compliance with this covenant.There
were no borrowings outstanding at December 31, 1998 and 1997.

The Company has uncommitted lines of credit available of $65.0
with various banks which have no compensating balances or fees. As
of December 31, 1998 and 1997, there were no borrowings under
lines of credit or bankers’ acceptance facilities. In addition, as of
December 31, 1998 and 1997, there were international lines of
credit totaling $329.5 and $295.8, respectively, of which $53.9 and
$29.4 were outstanding, respectively.There were no compensating
balances or fees under these facilities.

Inventories > Avon’s products are marketed during twelve to 
twenty-six individual sales campaigns each year. Each campaign is
conducted using a brochure offering a wide assortment of products,
many of which change from campaign to campaign. It is necessary
for Avon to maintain relatively high inventory levels as a result of
the nature of its business, including the number of campaigns con-
ducted annually and the large number of products marketed. Avon’s
operations have a seasonal pattern characteristic of many compa-
nies selling CFT, fashion jewelry and accessories, gift and decorative
items and apparel. Christmas sales cause a peak in the fourth quar-
ter which results in the build up of inventory at the end of the third
quarter. Inventory levels are then sharply reduced by the end of the 

fourth quarter. Inventories of $538.4 at December 31, 1998 were
$26.4 lower than 1997 due mainly to reduced inventory levels in
the U.S.The decrease in the U.S. results from improvements in CFT
related to the implementation of supply chain initiatives which
resulted in reduced cycle times, reorder quantity and overstocking
as well as lower component prices. In addition, write-downs in 
fashion jewelry and accessories and apparel associated with the
Company’s business process redesign program contributed to the
decrease. See Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for further discussion of the business process redesign
program. It is Avon’s objective to continue to manage purchases
and inventory levels maintaining the focus of operating the business
at efficient inventory levels. However, the addition or expansion of
product lines such as apparel, jewelry and impulse gift items,
products that are subject to changing fashion trends and consumer
tastes, as well as planned expansion in high growth markets, may
cause the inventory levels to grow periodically.

Capital Expenditures > Capital expenditures during 1998 were
$189.5 (1997 – $169.4).These expenditures were made for capaci-
ty expansion in high growth markets, maintenance of worldwide
facilities, contemporization and replacement of information systems,
supply chain initiatives in the U.S. and for shipping and other 
customer service improvements, primarily in the United Kingdom
and Brazil. Numerous construction and information systems projects
were in progress at December 31, 1998 with an estimated cost to
complete of approximately $87.4. Capital expenditures in 1999 are
currently expected to be in the range of $200.0 – $220.0.These
expenditures will include improvements on existing facilities, contin-
ued investments for capacity expansion in high growth markets,
facility modernization, information systems and equipment replace-
ment projects.

Foreign Operations > The Company derived approximately 60% of
its 1998 consolidated net sales and consolidated operating profit
from operations from its subsidiaries outside of North America. In
addition, as of December 31, 1998, these subsidiaries comprised
approximately 53% of the Company’s consolidated total assets.

Avon’s operations in many countries utilize numerous currencies.
Avon has significant net assets in Brazil, the United Kingdom,
Japan, Argentina, Germany and the Philippines. Changes in the
value of these countries’ currencies relative to the U.S. dollar result
in direct charges or credits to equity. Effective January 1, 1997,
Mexico was designated as a country with a highly inflationary econ-
omy due to the cumulative inflation rates over the three year period
1994-1997. However, Mexico will be converted to non-hyper infla-
tionary status effective January 1, 1999 due to reduced cumulative
inflation rates over the past three years.
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The Russian ruble devalued significantly in August 1998. In
response to this situation, several actions have been taken by local
management including pricing flexibility to maintain and build mar-
ket share, the reduction of credit sales as well as a tightening of
expense controls.The devaluation negatively affected Russia’s U.S.
dollar results in 1998. In terms of size, Russia’s 1998 net sales rep-
resented approximately 1% of Avon’s consolidated net sales. Avon’s
results continue to be negatively impacted by the Asian currency
and economic crisis which began in mid-1997.

On April 21, 1998, the Chinese government issued a directive ban-
ning all direct selling in China resulting in the shutdown of the
Company’s sales operations for most of the second quarter. As of
the beginning of June, the Company received Chinese governmental
approval to resume operations as a wholesale and retail business
and became operational again on June 15, 1998.The Company con-
verted its 75 branches into retail outlets to serve customers. During
the end of the second quarter of 1998, Avon received government
approval to utilize sales promoters, much like Representatives, to
promote product sales in China.

Avon’s well diversified global portfolio of businesses has demon-
strated that the effects of weak economies and currency fluctua-
tions in certain countries may be offset by strong results in others.
Fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies cause U.S. dollar-
translated amounts to change in comparison with previous periods.
Accordingly, Avon cannot project in any meaningful way the possible
effect of such fluctuations upon translated amounts or future earn-
ings.This is due to the large number of currencies involved, the con-
stantly changing exposure in these currencies, the complexity of
intercompany relationships, the hedging activity entered into in an
attempt to minimize certain of the effects of exchange rate changes
where economically feasible and the fact that all foreign currencies
do not react in the same manner against the U.S. dollar.

Certain of the Company’s financial instruments, which are 
discussed below under Risk Management Strategies and Market
Rate Sensitive Instruments and in Note 7 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, are used to hedge various
amounts relating to certain international subsidiaries. However, the
Company’s foreign currency hedging activities are not significant
when compared to the Company’s international financial position 
or results of operations.

Some foreign subsidiaries rely primarily on borrowings from local
commercial banks to fund working capital needs created by their
highly seasonal sales pattern. From time to time, when tax and
other considerations dictate, Avon will finance subsidiary working
capital needs or borrow foreign currencies. At December 31, 1998,
the total indebtedness of foreign subsidiaries was $55.6.

It is Avon’s policy to remit all the available cash (cash in excess of
working capital requirements, having no legal restrictions and not
considered permanently reinvested) of foreign subsidiaries as rapidly
as is practical. During 1998, these subsidiaries remitted, net of
taxes, $340.2 in dividends and royalties.This sum is a substantial
portion of the 1998 consolidated net earnings of Avon’s foreign sub-
sidiaries.

Risk Management Strategies and Market Rate Sensitive
Instruments > The Company operates globally, with manufacturing
and distribution facilities in various locations around the world.
The Company may reduce its primary market exposures to fluctua-
tions in interest rates and foreign exchange rates by creating 
offsetting positions through the use of derivative financial instru-
ments.The Company does not use derivative financial instruments
for trading or speculative purposes, nor is the Company a party to
leveraged derivatives.

The Company periodically uses interest rate swaps to hedge portions
of interest payable on its debt. In addition, the Company may peri-
odically employ interest rate caps to reduce exposure, if any, to
increases in variable interest rates.

The Company may periodically hedge foreign currency royalties, net
investments in foreign subsidiaries, firm purchase commitments and
contractual foreign currency cash flows or obligations, including
third-party and intercompany foreign currency transactions.The
Company regularly monitors its foreign currency exposures and
ensures that hedge contract amounts do not exceed the amounts of
the underlying exposures.

At December 31, 1998, the Company held foreign currency forward
contracts with notional amounts totaling $285.9 and option con-
tracts with notional amounts totaling $32.6 to hedge foreign cur-
rency items. Only $7.3 of these contracts have maturities after
December 31, 1999. Also outstanding in 1998 were foreign curren-
cy forward contracts totaling $45.0 which do not qualify as hedging
transactions under the current accounting definitions and, accord-
ingly, have been marked to market.The mark-to-market adjustment
at December 31, 1998 was insignificant.

At December 31, 1998, the Company has entered into forward con-
tracts to purchase approximately 3,469,200 shares of Avon com-
mon stock at an average price of $36.31 per share at December 31,
1998.The contracts mature over the next three years and provide
for physical or net share settlement to the Company. Accordingly, no
adjustment for subsequent changes in fair value has been recognized.



The Company attempts to minimize its credit exposure to counter-
parties by entering into interest rate swap and cap contracts 
only with major international financial institutions with “A” or 
higher credit ratings as issued by Standard & Poor’s Corporation.
The Company’s foreign currency and interest rate derivatives are
comprised of over-the-counter forward contracts or options with
major international financial institutions. Although the Company’s
theoretical credit risk is the replacement cost at the then estimated
fair value of these instruments, management believes that the risk
of incurring losses is remote and that such losses, if any, would not
be material.

Non-performance of the counterparties to the balance of all the
currency and interest rate swap agreements would not result in a sig-
nificant write off at December 31, 1998. Each agreement provides
for the right of offset between counterparties to the agreement. In
addition, Avon may be exposed to market risk on its foreign exchange
and interest rate swap agreements as a result of changes in foreign
exchange and interest rates.The market risk related to the foreign
exchange agreements should be substantially offset by changes in the
valuation of the underlying items being hedged.

The Company is exposed to changes in financial market conditions
in the normal course of its operations primarily due to international
businesses and transactions denominated in foreign currencies and
the use of various financial instruments to fund ongoing activities.

Various derivative and non-derivative financial instruments held by
the Company are sensitive to changes in interest rates.These finan-
cial instruments are either discussed above or in Notes 4 and 7 of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Interest rate
changes would result in gains or losses in the fair value of debt and
other financing instruments held by the Company. Based on the out-
standing balance of all instruments at December 31, 1998, a hypo-
thetical 50 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates prevail-
ing at this date, sustained for one year, would not represent a mater-
ial potential loss in fair value, earnings or cash flows.This potential
loss was calculated based on discounted cash flow analyses using
interest rates comparable to the Company’s current cost of debt. In
1998, the Company did not experience a material loss in fair value,
earnings or cash flows associated with changes in interest rates.

The Company also engages in various hedging activities in order to
reduce potential losses due to foreign currency risks. Consistent
with the nature of the economic hedge of such foreign exchange
contracts, any unrealized gain or loss would be offset by corre-
sponding decreases or increases, respectively, of the underlying
instrument or transaction being hedged.These financial instruments
are discussed above and in Note 7 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements. Based on the Company’s foreign exchange

contracts at December 31, 1998, the impact of a 10% appreciation
or 10% depreciation of the U.S. dollar against the Company’s for-
eign exchange contracts would not represent a material potential
loss in fair value, earnings or cash flows.This potential loss does not
consider the underlying foreign currency transaction or translation
exposures of the Company.The hypothetical impact was calculated
on the combined option and forward positions using forward rates
at December 31, 1998 adjusted for an assumed 10% appreciation
or 10% depreciation of the U.S. dollar against the foreign con-
tracts.The impact of payoffs on option contracts is not significant
to this calculation. Additionally, any foreign currency risk associated
with the foreign denominated debt instrument was assumed to be
offset by a related currency exchange swap contract. In 1998, for-
eign exchange losses associated with the Company’s foreign
exchange contracts did not represent a material loss in fair value,
earnings or cash flows.

As of December 31, 1998, the primary currencies for which the
Company has net underlying foreign currency exchange rate expo-
sure are the U.S. dollar versus the Argentine peso, Brazilian real,
British pound, Canadian dollar, German mark, Japanese yen and the
Mexican peso.The Company is also exposed to other South
American and Asian currencies.

The Company does not hedge its foreign currency exposure in a
manner that would entirely eliminate the effect of changes in for-
eign exchange rates on the Company’s consolidated financial posi-
tion, results of operations and cash flows.The impact of a 10%
appreciation or 10% depreciation of the U.S. dollar against the
Company’s net underlying foreign currency transaction and transla-
tion exposures could be significant.

OTHER INFORMATION
On October 23, 1997, the Company announced that it raised its
long-term growth targets for sales and earnings per share and that
it expects to record special charges in connection with a major
business process redesign program. Commencing in 1998, the long-
term target for sales growth has been raised to 8-10% compounded
annually, and its target for earnings per share growth has been
raised to 16-18% annually. Previously, the Company targeted long-
term sales growth of 6-8% and long-term earnings per share growth
of 13-15%.The higher targets come largely as a result of initiatives
currently underway and others under review intended to reduce
costs by up to $400.0 a year by 2000, with $200.0 of the savings
being reinvested concurrently in advertising and marketing pro-
grams to boost sales. In the first quarter of 1998, the Company
recorded $108.4 pretax of such one-time charges ($84.2 after tax,
or $.32 per share on a basic and diluted basis) in connection with
the business process redesign program. Slightly more than half of
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the total pretax charges in the first quarter were to be cash related
with payments in 1998 and 1999. In the third quarter of 1998, the
Company recorded additional special charges for business redesign
efforts totaling $46.0 pretax ($38.6 after tax, or $.14 per share on
a basic and diluted basis). Approximately 70% of the third quarter
pretax charges were to be cash related with payments in 1998 and
1999. At December 31, 1998, the remaining liability balance was
$28.5 and relates primarily to severance costs that will be paid dur-
ing 1999.The Company expects to record the balance of one-time
charges in 1999.

EURO
A single currency called the euro was introduced in Europe on
January 1, 1999. Eleven of the fifteen member countries of the
European Union adopted the euro as their common legal currency
on that date. Fixed conversion rates between these participating
countries’ existing currencies (the “legacy currencies”) and the euro
were established as of that date.The legacy currencies are sched-
uled to remain legal tender as denominations of the euro until June
30, 2002. During this transition period, parties may settle transac-
tions using either the euro or a participating country’s legal curren-
cy. Beginning in January 2002, new euro-denominated bills and
coins will be issued, and legacy currencies will be withdrawn from
circulation.

Avon operating subsidiaries affected by the euro conversion have
established plans to address issues raised by the euro currency con-
version.These issues include, among others, the need to adapt infor-
mation technology systems, business processes and equipment to
accommodate euro-denominated transactions, the impact of one
common currency on pricing and recalculating currency risk. Avon
does not expect system and equipment conversion costs to be mater-
ial. Due to the numerous uncertainties associated with the market
impact of the euro conversion, the Company cannot reasonably esti-
mate the effects one common currency will have on pricing and the
resulting impact, if any, on results of operations, financial condition
or cash flows.

YEAR 2000 UPDATE
General > The “Year 2000 issue” is the result of computer pro-
grams being written using two-digits rather than four to define the
applicable year. If the Company’s computer programs with date-sen-
sitive functions are not Year 2000 compliant, they may fail or make
miscalculations due to interpreting a date including “00” to mean
1900, not 2000.The result may be disruptions in operations, includ-
ing, among other things, a temporary inability to process transac-
tions or engage in similar normal business activities.

The Company commenced its worldwide Year 2000 initiative in
early 1996.The Company has developed a comprehensive project
plan as a means for ensuring that all information technology (“IT”)
systems, including applications, operating systems, mainframe, mid
range and client server platforms, all non-information technology
(“Non-IT”) systems, including embedded applications and equip-
ment and key third parties are Year 2000 compliant by December
31, 1999.The Company has identified high risk applications that
are critical to its business, recognizing the fact that timely compli-
ance of these systems is crucial, and, therefore, has designed its pro-
grams to address these systems first. Furthermore, the Company
has established a project team to identify and address the
Company’s Year 2000 risks and issues in an attempt to ensure the
integrity and reliability of the Company’s information systems and
business processes.

Project Plan > The Company’s Year 2000 project plan is divided
into four major sections, including: Infrastructure, Application
Softwares, Validation of Third Party Compliance and Embedded
Systems.The project has five phases, which are common to all sec-
tions: 1) identifying, inventorying and prioritizing Year 2000 items;
2) assessing Year 2000 compliance of identified items and related
potential risks in circumstances of non-compliance of these items;
3) remediating, replacing or upgrading, as appropriate, material
items that are determined not to be Year 2000 compliant; 4) valida-
tion testing of material items to ensure compliance; and 5) contin-
gency planning and implementation.The Company utilizes internal
resources and outside consultants to renovate and test its IT and
Non-IT systems for Year 2000 compliance. None of the Company’s
other information technology projects have been deferred due to the
implementation of the Year 2000 project.

The Infrastructure section consists of hardware, including main-
frame and AS/400 platforms, and software, including operating sys-
tems, other than Applications Software.This section has completed
all phases through remediation and has progressed to the validation
testing phase. All Infrastructure activities are expected to be com-
pleted by June 1999.

The Applications Software section includes the conversion of both
in-house developed and vendor-supplied software applications. In-
house developed software that is not Year 2000 compliant has
undergone remediation of its application, whereas non-compliant
vendor provided software has been upgraded or replaced, where
available by the supplier.This section’s testing phase, which includes
procedures for independent validation and verification of code, is
ongoing and is anticipated to be completed by June 1999.



Validation of Third Party Compliance includes the process of recog-
nizing, prioritizing and communicating with key suppliers and ser-
vice providers with whom the Company has a direct and significant
relationship and are believed to be critical to its business opera-
tions. Identification of significant vendors has been completed and a
strategy has been initiated in an attempt to reasonably ascertain
their progress in addressing the Year 2000 issue.The Company has
distributed comprehensive questionnaires to key suppliers, and, with
the guidance of outside consultants, is in the process of conducting
detailed assessments of the responses received.The validation of
third party compliance is expected to be completed by May 1999.
Follow-up reviews will also be scheduled for the remainder of 1999.

The Embedded Systems section includes all hardware, software and
associated embedded computer chips that are utilized in operating
and maintaining the internal functions of the Company’s facilities,
i.e. climate control systems.The Company has elected to employ a
regional-based strategy for addressing Year 2000 compliance of its
embedded systems. Avon U.S. operations have substantially com-
pleted the remediation of embedded systems and anticipate all
repair and testing to be completed by March 1999. From an inter-
national standpoint, the Company is in the process of inventorying
material items that are not Year 2000 compliant and expects the
assessment phase to be completed by July 1999, with all remedia-
tion testing scheduled to be completed by year-end 1999.

Costs > The total estimated cost associated with achieving world-
wide Year 2000 compliance will be approximately $29.4, of which
$17.0 has been spent to date. Replacement costs and costs associ-
ated with the validation of third party compliance are included in
these figures.The Company does not separately track the internal
costs incurred for the Year 2000 project, those costs primarily being
related to payroll costs for the Company’s information systems
group.The Company’s policy is to expense as incurred information
system maintenance and modification costs and to capitalize costs
related to system replacement.The costs of the Company’s Year
2000 compliance efforts are being funded through operating cash
flows.

Risks > The Company expects to identify and resolve all Year 2000
problems that may adversely affect its business operations. However,
management believes that it is not possible to determine with com-
plete certainty that all Year 2000 matters affecting the Company
have been or will be identified or corrected, resulting in part from
the uncertainty of the Year 2000 readiness of third party suppliers.
Thus, the Company is unable to determine at this time whether the
consequences of Year 2000 failures will have a material impact on
the Company’s results of operations, liquidity or financial condition.
The Company believes, however, that its risk of being adversely
impacted by Year 2000 failures is mitigated due to its product port-
folio being so diversified, with the vast majority of its items not
being date-sensitive.The strategy employed by the Company’s Year

2000 project is expected to significantly reduce the Company’s level
of uncertainty about the Year 2000 issue and the Year 2000 com-
pliance of key third parties who materially impact its business.

Contingency Plans > Development of contingency plans is in
progress and will be developed in detail during 1999. Once estab-
lished, contingency plans and related cost estimates will be continu-
ally modified, if necessary, as additional information becomes avail-
able.

Disclaimer > Readers are cautioned that forward-looking state-
ments contained in the Year 2000 Update should be read in con-
junction with the Company’s disclosure under the heading
“Forward-Looking Statement”.
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All share and per share data shown below have been restated to reflect two-for-one stock splits which were distributed in September 1998
and June 1996.

In millions, except per share data First Second Third Fourth Year
1998
Net sales $1,183.4 $1,247.2 $ 1,233.2 $ 1,548.9 $5,212.7
Gross profit* 680.3 781.6 755.0 942.8 3,159.7
Special charges 70.5 — 46.0 — 116.5
Operating (loss) profit (16.3) 178.6 82.7 234.5 479.5
(Loss)income before taxes and minority interest (26.6) 173.6 76.5 232.4 455.9
(Loss)income before minority interest (32.7) 109.7 39.8 148.3 265.1
Net (loss)income $ (31.0) $ 111.4 $ 41.5 $ 148.1 $ 270.0
(Loss)earnings per share:

Basic $ (.12) $ .42 $ .16 $ .56 $ 1.03(1)

Diluted $ (.12) $ .42 $ .16 $ .56 $ 1.02(1)

*First quarter includes a one-time charge of $37.9 for inventory write-downs.

1997
Net sales $1,087.6 $1,225.0 $ 1,249.4 $ 1,517.4 $5,079.4
Gross profit 646.0 748.9 732.2 901.3 3,028.4
Operating profit 73.1 157.0 117.5 196.5 544.1
Income before taxes and minority interest 63.0 150.5 107.9 213.5 534.9
Income before minority interest 39.7 94.8 68.0 134.5 337.0
Net income $ 41.3 $ 95.2 $ 68.6 $ 133.7 $ 338.8
Earnings per share:

Basic $ .16 $ .36 $ .26 $ .51 $ 1.28(1)

Diluted $ .15 $ .36 $ .26 $ .50 $ 1.27(1)

(1) The sum of per share amounts for the quarters does not necessarily equal that for the year because the computations are made independently.

MARKET PRlCES PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK BY QUARTER

1998 1997
Quarter High Low High Low
First $ 40.63 $28.00 $31.81 $26.06
Second 44.50 36.94 37.00 25.31
Third 44.31 25.00 39.00 29.25
Fourth 46.25 25.75 38.38 27.75

Avon common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange. At December 31, 1998, there were 23,375 shareholders of record.The
Company believes that there are over 60,000 additional shareholders who are not “shareholders of record” but who beneficially own and
vote shares through nominee holders such as brokers, benefit plan trustees, etc. Dividends of $.68 per share, or $.17 per share each quarter,
were declared and paid in 1998. Dividends of $.63 per share, or $.1575 per share each quarter, were declared and paid in 1997.

RESULTS OF OPERATlONS BY QUARTER
Avon Products, Inc.



In millions, except per share data

Years ended December 31 1998 1997 1996
Net sales $5,212.7 $5,079.4 $4,814.2
Costs, expenses and other:

Cost of sales** 2,053.0 2,051.0 1,921.2
Marketing, distribution and administrative expenses 2,563.7 2,484.3 2,348.2
Special charges 116.5 — —

Operating profit 479.5 544.1 544.8
Interest expense 41.0 41.8 40.0
Interest income (15.9) (16.7) (14.5)
Other (income) expense, net (1.5) (15.9) 8.9

Total other expenses 23.6 9.2 34.4
Income before taxes and minority interest 455.9 534.9 510.4
Income taxes 190.8 197.9 191.4
Income before minority interest 265.1 337.0 319.0
Minority interest 4.9 1.8 (1.1)
Net income $ 270.0 $ 338.8 $ 317.9
Earnings per share:

Basic $ 1.03 $ 1.28* $ 1.19*
Diluted $ 1.02 $ 1.27* $ 1.18*

* Restated to reflect a two-for-one stock split distributed in September 1998.
**1998 includes a one-time charge of $37.9 for inventory write-downs.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

CONSOLlDATED STATEMENTS OF lNCOME
Avon Products, Inc.



44 | 45

In millions, except share data

December 31 1998 1997
Assets
Current assets
Cash, including cash equivalents of $59.7 and $60.0 $ 105.6 $ 141.9
Accounts receivable (less allowance for doubtful

accounts of $49.0 and $35.5) 492.6 444.8
Inventories 538.4 564.8
Prepaid expenses and other 204.8 192.5

Total current assets $ 1,341.4 $1,344.0
Property, plant and equipment, at cost
Land 51.4 48.6
Buildings and improvements 613.0 567.0
Equipment 728.4 666.0

1,392.8 1,281.6
Less accumulated depreciation 722.9 670.6

669.9 611.0

Other assets 422.2 317.9
Total assets $ 2,433.5 $2,272.9

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Debt maturing within one year $ 55.3 $ 132.1
Accounts payable 416.9 476.0
Accrued compensation 161.3 111.3
Other accrued liabilities 308.2 268.9
Sales and taxes other than income 106.2 101.0
Income taxes 281.6 266.6

Total current liabilities $ 1,329.5 $1,355.9

Long-term debt 201.0 102.2
Employee benefit plans 390.0 367.6
Deferred income taxes 36.3 31.2
Other liabilities (including minority interest of $36.1 and $37.5) 191.6 131.0

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)

Shareholders’ equity
Common stock, par value $.25 – authorized: 400,000,000 shares;
issued 351,314,366 and 174,711,173 shares 87.8 43.7
Additional paid-in capital 780.0 733.1
Retained earnings 719.1 660.9
Accumulated other comprehensive income (301.3) (270.3)
Treasury stock, at cost – 88,793,640 and 42,897,463 shares (1,000.5) (882.4)

Total shareholders’ equity 285.1 285.0
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 2,433.5 $2,272.9

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

CONSOLlDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Avon Products, Inc.



In millions

Years ended December 31 1998 1997 1996
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 270.0 $ 338.8 $ 317.9
Adjustments to reconcile income to net cash 

provided by continuing operations:
Depreciation and amortization 72.0 72.1 64.5
Provision for doubtful accounts 91.3 80.8 79.0
Translation gains (7.2) (.1) (.2)
Deferred income taxes (13.0) 18.0 (.7)
Special charges 88.5 — —
Other 3.9 9.4 9.9
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (157.6) (121.4) (125.5)
Inventories (17.2) (67.5) (65.4)
Prepaid expenses and other (4.0) 6.7 13.7
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 13.0 42.9 97.8
Income and other taxes 19.5 (56.1) 57.7
Noncurrent assets and liabilities (34.8) (8.1) (23.6)

Net cash provided by continuing operations 324.4 315.5 425.1
Net cash used by discontinued operations — — (38.2)
Net cash provided by operating activities 324.4 315.5 386.9
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures (189.5) (169.4) (103.6)
Disposal of assets 5.8 3.3 3.3
Acquisitions of subsidiary stock and other investing activities 1.4 (9.0) (6.3)
Net cash used by investing activities (182.3) (175.1) (106.6)
Cash flows from financing activities
Cash dividends (180.6) (168.3) (158.1)
Debt, net (maturities of three months or less) (96.1) (39.8) 17.8
Proceeds from short-term debt 54.7 25.7 37.5
Retirement of short-term debt (34.9) (49.0) (14.1)
Proceeds from long-term debt 100.1 100.0 —
Retirement of long-term debt (.6) (.8) (1.5)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options, net of taxes 24.0 20.6 10.0
Repurchase of common stock (107.8) (110.8) (127.8)
Other financing activities 58.1 58.6 —
Net cash used by financing activities (183.1) (163.8) (236.2)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents 4.7 (19.2) (11.0)
Net (decrease)increase in cash and equivalents (36.3) (42.6) 33.1
Cash and equivalents at beginning of year 141.9 184.5 151.4
Cash and equivalents at end of year $ 105.6 $ 141.9 $184.5
Cash paid for

Interest $ 39.2 $ 36.0 $ 35.2
Income taxes, net of refunds received 188.5 215.8 158.9

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

CONSOLlDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Avon Products, Inc.
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Accumulated
Additional Other

Common Stock Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Treasury
In millions, except share data Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income Stock  Total

Balance at December 31, 1995 173,498,112 $ 43.4 $ 672.9 $ 325.8 $ (202.1) $ (647.3) $ 192.7
Comprehensive income:

Net income 317.9 317.9
Foreign currency translation adjustments (8.6) (8.6)

Total comprehensive income 309.3
Dividends – $1.16 per share (154.9) (154.9)
Exercise of stock options,

including tax benefits 423,267 .1 15.6 15.7
Grant, cancellation and

amortization of restricted stock 36,000 2.7 2.7
Repurchase of common stock (127.8) (127.8)
Benefit plan contributions 2.4 1.6 4.0
Balance at December 31, 1996 173,957,379 43.5 693.6 488.8 (210.7) (773.5) 241.7
Comprehensive income:

Net income 338.8 338.8
Foreign currency translation adjustments (59.6) (59.6)

Total comprehensive income 279.2
Dividends – $1.26 per share (166.7) (166.7)
Exercise of stock options,

including tax benefits 713,298 .2 30.3 30.5
Grant, cancellation and

amortization of restricted stock 40,496 4.6 4.6
Repurchase of common stock (110.8) (110.8)
Benefit plan contributions 4.6 1.9 6.5
Balance at December 31, 1997 174,711,173 43.7 733.1 660.9 (270.3) (882.4) 285.0
Comprehensive income:

Net income 270.0 270.0
Foreign currency translation adjustments (15.6) (15.6)
Minimum pension liability adjustment (15.4) (15.4)

Total comprehensive income 239.0
Dividends – $.68 per share (178.9) (178.9)
Two-for-one stock split effected 

in the form of a stock dividend from 
retained earnings (Note 9) 175,419,475 43.9 (32.9) (11.0) —

Exercise of stock options,
including tax benefits 916,102 .2 38.2 38.4

Grant, cancellation and 
amortization of restricted stock 267,616 7.1 7.1

Repurchase of common stock (107.8) (107.8)
Benefit plan contributions 1.6 .7 2.3
Balance at December 31, 1998 351,314,366 $ 87.8 $ 780.0 $ 719.1 $ (301.3) $ (1,000.5) $ 285.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

CONSOLlDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES 
lN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUlTY
Avon Products, Inc.



NOTES TO CONSOLlDATED FlNANClAL STATEMENTS

1 DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS AND 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BUSINESS
Avon Products, Inc. (“Avon” or “Company”) is a global manufac-
turer and marketer of beauty and related products.The product cat-
egories include cosmetics, fragrance and toiletries; gift and decora-
tive; apparel; and fashion jewelry and accessories. Avon’s business is
comprised of one industry segment, direct selling, which is conduct-
ed in North America, Latin America, the Pacific and Europe. Sales
are made to the ultimate customers principally by independent Avon
Representatives.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation > The consolidated financial state-
ments include the accounts of Avon and its majority and wholly-
owned subsidiaries. Intercompany balances and transactions are
eliminated.These statements have been prepared in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles and require management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported
and disclosed in the financial statements and related notes. Actual
results could differ from these estimates.

Foreign Currency > The Company has operations in various coun-
tries around the world. Fluctuations in the value of foreign curren-
cies cause U.S. dollar-translated amounts to change in comparison
with previous periods. Accordingly, the Company cannot project in
any meaningful way the possible effect of such fluctuations upon
translated amounts or future earnings.This is due to the large num-
ber of currencies involved, the constantly changing exposure in these
currencies, the complexity of intercompany relationships, the hedg-
ing activity entered into in an attempt to minimize certain of the
effects of exchange rate changes where economically feasible and
the fact that all foreign currencies do not react in the same manner
against the U.S. dollar.

Financial statements of foreign subsidiaries operating in other than
highly inflationary economies are translated at year-end exchange
rates for assets and liabilities and average exchange rates prevailing
during the year for income and expense accounts.Translation
adjustments of these subsidiaries are recorded within accumulated
other comprehensive income.

For financial statements of subsidiaries operating in highly inflation-
ary economies, nonmonetary assets (principally inventories and
fixed assets) and the related expenses (principally cost of sales and
depreciation) are translated at the respective historical exchange
rates in effect when the assets were acquired or when the subsidiary
was designated as operating in a highly inflationary economy.
Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange
rates. All other income and expense accounts are translated at aver-
age exchange rates prevailing during the year. Adjustments resulting
from the translation of the financial statements of these subsidiaries
are included in income.

Revenue Recognition > Avon recognizes revenue as shipments 
are made and title passes to independent Representatives, who are
Avon’s customers.

Cash and Equivalents > Cash equivalents are stated at cost plus
accrued interest, which approximates fair value. Cash equivalents
are highly liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of three
months or less and consist of time deposits with a number of U.S.
and non-U.S. commercial banks with high credit ratings. In accor-
dance with Avon’s policy, the maximum amount invested in any one
bank is limited. Avon believes it is not exposed to any significant
credit risk regarding cash and equivalents.

Inventories > Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market.
Cost is determined using the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) method for
substantially all U.S. inventories, except apparel, and the first-in,
first-out method for all other inventories.

Depreciation > Substantially all buildings, improvements and
equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over esti-
mated useful lives. Estimated useful lives for buildings and improve-
ments range from 20 to 45 years and equipment range from 3 to
15 years.

Other Assets > Systems development costs related to the develop-
ment of major information and accounting systems are capitalized
and amortized over the estimated useful life of the related project,
not to exceed five years.

Stock Options > Compensation cost is recognized for fixed price
options using the intrinsic value method. Under this method, com-
pensation cost is the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of
the stock at the grant date or other measurement date over the
amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock.

Avon Products, Inc.
In millions, except share data
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Financial Instruments > Derivative financial instruments are used
by the Company in the management of its interest rate and foreign
currency exposures and are accounted for on an accrual basis.
Gains and losses resulting from effective hedges of existing assets,
liabilities and firm commitments are deferred as other assets or 
liabilities and recognized when the offsetting gains and losses are
recognized on the related hedged items. Income and expense are
recorded in the same category as that arising from the related asset
or liability being hedged. Items which do not qualify for hedge
accounting are marked to market with the resulting gain or loss
recognized in other (income) expense, net. Gains realized on termi-
nation of interest rate swap contracts are deferred and amortized
over the remaining terms of the original swap agreements. Costs 
of interest rate cap contracts are amortized over the effective lives
of the contracts if considered to be economic hedges; otherwise,
they are marked to market.

The Company also uses financial instruments, principally forward
contracts to purchase Avon common stock, to hedge certain employ-
ee benefit costs and the cost of the Company’s share repurchase
program. Contracts that require physical or net share settlement
are initially measured at fair value with subsequent changes in fair
value not recognized.

Research and Development > Research and development costs are
expensed as incurred and aggregated in 1998 $31.4 (1997 –
$29.9; 1996 – $30.2).

Advertising > Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and
aggregated in 1998 $65.0 (1997 – $64.5; 1996 – $69.6).

Income Taxes > Deferred income taxes have been provided on
items recognized for financial reporting purposes in different peri-
ods than for income tax purposes at future enacted rates.

U.S. income taxes have not been provided on approximately $198.9
of undistributed income of subsidiaries that has been or is intended
to be permanently reinvested outside the United States or is expect-
ed to be remitted free of U.S. income taxes. If such undistributed
income was remitted, no substantial tax cost would be incurred.

Earnings per Share > Basic earnings per share are computed by
dividing net income by the weighted-average number of shares out-
standing during the year. Diluted earnings per share are calculated
to give effect to all potentially dilutive common shares that were
outstanding during the year.

For each of the three years ended December 31, the number of
shares used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per
share are as follows:

1998 1997 1996
Basic EPS
Weighted-average shares 263.27 264.67 267.40
Incremental shares from 

conversion of:
Stock options 2.68 2.33 1.86

Diluted EPS
Adjusted weighted-
average shares 265.95 267.00 269.26

Reclassifications > To conform to the 1998 presentation, certain
reclassifications were made to the prior years’ consolidated financial
statements.

2 ACCOUNTING CHANGES
Effective January 1, 1998, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”) No. 130, “Reporting
Comprehensive Income”.This statement establishes standards for
the reporting and presentation of comprehensive income and its
components in a full set of financial statements. As shown in the
Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity and Note 5, com-
prehensive income includes all changes in equity during a period,
except those resulting from investments by and distributions to the
Company’s stockholders. As this standard only requires additional
information in the financial statements, it does not affect the
Company’s results of operations or financial position.

Effective January 1, 1998, the Company adopted FAS No. 131,
“Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information”, which changes the way the Company reports informa-
tion about its operating segments.The information for 1997 and
1996 has been restated from that previously reported in order to
conform with the current year’s presentation. FAS No. 131 requires
a new basis, entitled the management approach, for determining
reportable segments.This approach is based on the way manage-
ment organizes segments within a company for making operating
decisions and assessing performance. FAS No. 131 also establishes
standards for supplemental disclosure about products and services,
geographical areas and major customers. Segment results for the
three years ended December 31, 1998 are presented in Note 11.

Effective January 1, 1998, the Company adopted FAS No. 132,
“Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement
Benefits”. FAS No. 132 standardizes the disclosure requirements
for pensions and other postretirement benefits, though it does not
impact the measurement or recognition of those benefits.There was
no impact on the Company’s results of operations or financial posi-
tion in adopting this statement. Prior years’ information has been
restated to conform with the requirements of FAS No. 132.

Effective January 1, 1998, the Company adopted AICPA Statement
of Position (“SOP”) No. 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. SOP
No. 98-1 requires certain costs in connection with developing or
obtaining internally used software to be capitalized that previously
would have been expensed as incurred.The adoption of SOP No. 98-
1 did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of oper-
ations, financial position or cash flows.

Effective December 31, 1997, the Company adopted FAS No. 128,
“Earnings per Share”. FAS No. 128 establishes standards for com-
puting and presenting earnings per share (“EPS”) and replaces the
presentation of previously disclosed EPS with both basic and dilut-
ed EPS. Based upon the Company’s capitalization structure, the
EPS amounts calculated in accordance with FAS No. 128 approxi-
mated the Company’s EPS amounts in accordance with Accounting
Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 15, “Earnings per Share”.
All prior period EPS data have been restated in accordance with
FAS No. 128.



Effective January 1, 1996, the Company adopted the fair value dis-
closure requirements of FAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation”. As permitted by the statement, the Company did
not change the method of accounting for its employee stock com-
pensation plans. See Note 8 for the fair value disclosures required
under FAS No. 123.

RECENT PRONOUNCEMENTS
In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued
FAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities”. FAS No. 133 is effective for all fiscal quarters of all
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 1999 (January 1, 2000 for the
Company). FAS No. 133 requires that all derivative instruments be
recorded on the balance sheet at their fair value. Changes in the
fair value of derivatives are recorded each period in current earn-
ings or other comprehensive income, depending on whether a deriva-
tive is designated as part of a hedge transaction. For fair-value
hedge transactions in which the Company is hedging changes in the
fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment, changes in the
fair value of the derivative instrument will be included in the income
statement along with the offsetting changes in the hedged item’s
fair value. For cash-flow hedge transactions in which the Company
is hedging the variability of cash flows related to a variable rate
asset, liability, or a forecasted transaction, changes in the fair value
of the derivative instrument will be reported in other comprehensive
income.The gains and losses on the derivative instruments that 
are reported in other comprehensive income will be reclassified to 
earnings in the periods in which earnings are impacted by the 
variability of the cash flows of the hedged item.The ineffective por-
tion of all of the hedges will be recognized in current period 
earnings.The Company has not yet determined the impact that the
adoption of FAS No. 133 will have on its results of operations 
or financial position.

3 INVENTORIES
Inventories at December 31 consisted of the following:

1998 1997
Raw materials $ 140.6 $ 147.4
Finished goods 397.8 417.4
Total $ 538.4 $ 564.8

LIFO-based inventories at December 31, 1998 were $135.3;
(1997 – $143.5) with the current estimated replacement cost
exceeding the carrying value by approximately $3.6 (1997 – $15.2).

4 DEBT AND OTHER FINANCING
Debt at December 31 consisted of the following (see also Note 7
regarding financial instruments):

1998 1997
Maturing within one year:

Notes payable $ 53.9 $ 29.4
Current portion of long-term debt 1.4 102.7

Total $ 55.3 $132.1
Long-term debt:

6.25% bonds, due 2018 $100.0 $ –
6.55% notes, due 2007 100.0 100.0
170 million 6-1/8% deutsche mark 
notes, due 1998(1) – 100.0
Other, payable to 2002 with interest 
from 7% to 31% 2.4 4.9

Less current portion (1.4) (102.7)
Total $201.0 $102.2

(1) The deutsche mark notes (“Notes”) were effectively converted into U.S. dollar 
debt through the use of a currency exchange swap contract which included both the
principal and the interest. Reflected in the carrying value of the debt was a curren-
cy swap contract payable at December 31, 1997 of $5.1.

Annual maturities of long-term debt for each of the next five years
are: 1999 – $1.4; 2000 – $.6; 2001 – $.2; 2002 – $.1; and 2003
and beyond $200.1.

In May 1998, Avon issued $100.0 of bonds embedded with option
features (the “bonds”) to pay down commercial paper borrowings.
The bonds have a twenty-year maturity; however, after five years,
the bonds, at the holder’s option, can be sold back to the Company
at par or can be called at par by the underwriter and resold to
investors as fifteen-year debt.The coupon rate on the bonds is
6.25% for the first five years, but will be refinanced at market
rates if the bonds are called in year five.

In connection with the bond issuance, Avon entered into a five-year
interest rate swap contract with a notional amount of $50.0 to
effectively convert fixed interest on a portion of the bonds to a vari-
able interest rate, based on LIBOR.

During 1997, the Company issued $100.0 of 6.55% notes, due
August 1, 2007, to pay down commercial paper borrowings.

During 1996, the Company entered into an agreement, which expires
in 2001, with various banks to amend and restate the five-year,
$600.0 revolving credit and competitive advance facility agreement.
Within this facility, the Company is able to borrow, on an uncommit-
ted basis, various foreign currencies.The new agreement and the
prior agreement are referred to, collectively, as the credit facility.

The credit facility is primarily to be used to finance working capital,
provide support for the issuance of commercial paper and support
the stock repurchase program. At the Company’s option, the interest 



50 | 51

rate on borrowings under the credit facility is based on LIBOR,
prime, or federal fund rates.The credit facility has an annual facility
fee of $.4.The credit facility contains a covenant for interest cover-
age, as defined.The Company is in compliance with this covenant.

At December 31, 1998 and 1997, there were no borrowings out-
standing under the credit facility.

The Company has bankers’ acceptance facilities and uncommitted
lines of credit available of $65.0 (1997 – $205.0) with various
banks which have no compensating balances or fees. As of
December 31, 1998 and 1997, there were no borrowings under
either the bankers’ acceptance facilities or uncommitted lines.

The maximum borrowings under these combined facilities during
1998 and 1997 were $290.7 and $409.3, respectively, and the
annual average borrowings during each year were approximately
$205.7 and $274.6, respectively, at average annual interest rates of
approximately 4.8% and 5.2%, respectively.

At December 31, 1998 and 1997, international lines of credit
totaled $329.5 and $295.8, respectively, of which $53.9 and $29.4
were outstanding, respectively.The maximum borrowings under
these facilities during 1998 and 1997 were $63.6 and $38.8,
respectively, and the annual average borrowings during each year
were $49.3 and $33.8, respectively, at average annual interest rates
of approximately 12.3% and 9.9%, respectively. Such lines have no
compensating balances or fees.

At December 31, 1998 and 1997, Avon also has letters of credit
outstanding totaling $15.5 and $15.5, respectively, which guarantee
various insurance activities. In addition, Avon has outstanding let-
ters of credit for various trade activities.

During 1998 and 1997, the Company entered into securities lending
transactions resulting in the borrowing of securities which were sub-
sequently sold for net proceeds approximating $58.1 and $58.6,
respectively, used to repay commercial paper borrowings.The bor-
rowed securities are due to the lender no later than December 29,
2000, but at the Company’s option can be returned at any time.The
obligations are included in other non-current liabilities on the bal-
ance sheet.The effective rates on the transactions are expected to
be 5.5%. and 6.5%, respectively.

5 COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
The following table reflects comprehensive income as of 
December 31:

1998 1997 1996
Net income $ 270.0 $338.8 $317.9
Other comprehensive loss

Change in equity due to 
foreign currency 
translation adjustments (15.6) (59.6) (8.6)

Minimum pension liability
adjustment (15.4) — —

Comprehensive income $ 239.0 $279.2 $309.3

Accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31 consisted
of the following:

1998 1997
Foreign currency translation adjustments $ (285.9) $(270.3)
Minimum pension liability adjustments (15.4) —
Total $ (301.3) $(270.3)

6 INCOME TAXES
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) resulting from temporary differences
in the recognition of income and expense for tax and financial
reporting purposes at December 31 consisted of the following:

1998 1997
Deferred tax assets:

Postretirement benefits $ 82.0 $ 69.3
Accrued expenses and reserves 58.7 44.0
Special and non-recurring charges 9.0 —
Employee benefit plans 54.5 40.0
Foreign operating loss carryforwards 29.1 32.5
Capital loss carryforwards 17.4 21.2
Postemployment benefits 11.0 10.6
All other 21.3 17.7
Valuation allowance (46.9) (55.7)

Total deferred tax assets 236.1 179.6
Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation (41.5) (35.6)
Prepaid retirement plan costs (55.2) (52.4)
Capitalized interest (10.6) (13.5)
Unremitted foreign earnings (17.4) (12.0)
All other (22.1) (9.0)

Total deferred tax liabilities (146.8) (122.5)
Net deferred tax assets $ 89.3 $ 57.1

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31 were classified as
follows:

1998 1997
Deferred tax assets:

Prepaid expenses and other $ 86.9 $ 76.5
Other assets 44.2 16.1

Total deferred tax assets 131.1 92.6
Deferred tax liabilities:

Income taxes (5.5) (4.3)
Deferred income taxes (36.3) (31.2)

Total deferred tax liabilities (41.8) (35.5)
Net deferred tax assets $ 89.3 $ 57.1

The valuation allowance primarily represents reserves for foreign
operating loss and capital loss carryforwards.The basis used for
recognition of deferred tax assets included the profitability of the
operations and related deferred tax liabilities.

Income before taxes and minority interest for the years ended
December 31 was as follows:

1998 1997 1996
United States $ 74.2 $153.6 $171.3
Foreign 381.7 381.3 339.1
Total $ 455.9 $534.9 $510.4



The provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31
was as follows:

1998 1997 1996
Federal:

Current $ 16.7 $ 5.4 $ 30.9
Deferred (10.4) 21.3 1.0

6.3 26.7 31.9
Foreign:

Current 176.2 169.7 152.4
Deferred .9 (7.7) (1.5)

177.1 162.0 150.9
State and other:

Current 10.9 4.8 8.8
Deferred (3.5) 4.4 (.2)

7.4 9.2 8.6
Total $ 190.8 $197.9 $191.4

The effective tax rate for the years ended December 31 was 
as follows:

1998 1997 1996
Statutory federal rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State and local taxes, net of 

federal tax benefit 1.0 1.1 1.1
Tax-exempt operations .8 (.5) (.7)
Taxes on foreign income,

including translation 9.5 5.3 6.3
Other (4.4) (3.9) (4.2)
Effective tax rate 41.9% 37.0% 37.5%

During 1997, the Company reached final agreement with the
Internal Revenue Service with respect to its examination of the
Company’s income tax returns for the years 1982 through 1989. As
anticipated, payments, including related interest, made under this
settlement were approximately $42.4. Reserves previously had been
provided by the Company related to the agreement.

In the fourth quarter of 1997, the Company recorded a benefit
related to a value-added tax settlement in the United Kingdom
totaling $26.5, of which $20.6 and $5.9 have been reflected in
other (income) expense, net and interest income, respectively.

At December 31, 1998, Avon had foreign operating loss carryfor-
wards of approximately $87.8.The loss carryforwards expiring
between 1999 and 2006 were $64.3 and the loss carryforwards
which do not expire were $23.5. Capital loss carryforwards, which
expire between 1999 and 2001 and may be used to offset capital
gains, if any, were approximately $49.7 at December 31, 1998.

7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk Management > The Company operates globally, with manu-
facturing and distribution facilities in various locations around the
world.The Company may reduce its exposure to fluctuations in
interest rates and foreign exchange rates by creating offsetting posi-
tions through the use of derivative financial instruments.The
Company does not use derivative financial instruments for trading
or speculative purposes, nor is the Company a party to leveraged
derivatives.

The notional amount of forward exchange contracts and options is
the amount of foreign currency bought or sold at maturity.The
notional amount of interest rate swaps is the underlying principal
amount used in determining the interest payments exchanged over
the life of the swap.The notional amounts are not a direct measure
of the Company’s exposure through its use of derivatives.

Interest Rates > The Company periodically uses interest rate swaps
to hedge portions of interest payable on its debt. In addition, the
Company may periodically employ interest rate caps to reduce expo-
sure, if any, to increases in variable interest rates.

As discussed in Note 4, the Company entered into a five-year inter-
est rate swap contract with a notional amount of $50.0 to effec-
tively convert fixed interest on a portion of the bonds to variable
interest rate based on LIBOR.

Foreign Currencies > The Company may periodically hedge foreign
currency royalties, net investments in foreign subsidiaries, firm pur-
chase commitments and contractual foreign currency cash flows or
obligations, including third-party and intercompany foreign currency
transactions.The Company regularly monitors its foreign currency
exposures and ensures that hedge contract amounts do not exceed
the amounts of the underlying exposures.

At December 31, 1998, the Company held foreign currency forward
contracts with notional amounts totaling $285.9 (1997 – $319.1)
and option contracts with notional amounts totaling $32.6 (1997 –
$80.0) to hedge foreign currency items. All except $7.3 of these
contracts have maturities prior to December 31, 1999. Additionally,
the Company also held forward contracts with notional amounts
totaling $45.0 (1997 – $44.2) which do not qualify as hedging
transactions under the current accounting definitions and, accord-
ingly, have been marked to market.The mark-to-market adjustments
on these forward contracts at December 31, 1998 and 1997 were
insignificant.
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These forward and option contracts to purchase and sell foreign
currencies, including cross-currency contracts to sell one foreign
currency for another currency at December 31 are summarized
below:

1998 1997
Buy Sell Buy Sell

Brazilian real $ — $ 45.0 $ — $ —
British pound 37.9 57.7 29.1 56.5
Canadian dollar — 39.1 — 30.8
Chinese renminbi — 5.0 — —
French franc — — — 13.8
German mark 71.8 — 77.2 12.4
Indonesian rupiah — — 3.7 5.0
Irish punt — — 13.0 2.9
Italian lira 7.3 — 7.8 3.7
Japanese yen 1.5 67.3 12.0 53.3
Malaysian ringgit — — — 6.0
Mexican peso — — — 40.0
Philippine peso — — — 15.0
Russian ruble — — — 20.0
Spanish peseta 1.3 — — 7.0
Taiwanese dollar — 18.5 — 20.2
Thai baht — — — 5.1
Other currencies 6.8 4.3 4.1 4.7

Total $ 126.6 $236.9 $ 146.9 $ 296.4

At December 31, 1998, the Company has entered into forward 
contracts to purchase approximately 3,469,200 shares of Avon
common stock at an average price of $36.31 per share at
December 31, 1998.The contracts mature over the next three years
and provide for physical or net share settlement to the Company.
Accordingly, no adjustment for subsequent changes in fair value has
been recognized.

Credit and Market Risk > The Company attempts to minimize its
credit exposure to counterparties by entering into interest rate swap
and cap contracts only with major international financial institu-
tions with “A” or higher credit ratings as issued by Standard &
Poor’s Corporation.The Company’s foreign currency and interest
rate derivatives are comprised of over-the-counter forward contracts
or options with major international financial institutions. Although
the Company’s theoretical credit risk is the replacement cost at the
then estimated fair value of these instruments, management believes
that the risk of incurring losses is remote and that such losses, if
any, would not be material.

Non-performance of the counterparties to the balance of all the
currency and interest rate swap agreements would not result in a
significant write off at December 31, 1998. Each agreement pro-
vides for the right of offset between counterparties to the agree-
ment. In addition, Avon may be exposed to market risk on its for-
eign exchange and interest rate swap agreements as a result of
changes in foreign exchange and interest rates.The market risk
related to the foreign exchange agreements should be substantially
offset by changes in the valuation of the underlying items being
hedged.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments > For purposes of the follow-
ing disclosure, the fair value of a financial instrument is the amount
at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction
between willing parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation.
The aggregate fair value amounts presented are not intended to, and
do not, represent the underlying fair value of Avon.

The methods and assumptions used to estimate fair value are 
as follows:

Grantor trust > The fair value of these investments, principally
fixed income funds and equity securities, is based on the quoted
market prices for issues listed on exchanges.

Debt maturing within one year and long-term debt and other 
financing > The fair value of all debt and other financing is 
estimated based on the quoted market prices for issues listed on
exchanges.

Forward stock purchases and foreign exchange forward and
option contracts > The fair value of forward and option contracts
is estimated based on quoted market prices from banks.

Interest rate swap and currency swap agreements > The fair
value of interest rate swap and currency swap agreements is 
estimated based on quotes from the market makers of these instru-
ments and represents the estimated amounts that Avon would
expect to receive or pay to terminate the agreements.

The asset and (liability) amounts recorded in the balance sheet
(carrying amount) and the estimated fair values of financial instru-
ments at December 31 consisted of the following:

1998 1997
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

Cash and equivalents $ 105.6 $105.6 $ 141.9 $ 141.9
Grantor trust 72.2 72.7 61.1 62.7
Debt maturing within 

one year (55.3) (55.3) (127.0) (127.6)
Long-term debt and other 

financing (316.6) (322.2) (160.3) (162.7)
Currency swap contract on 

long-term debt — — (5.1) (1.7)
Forward stock purchases and

foreign exchange forward 
and option contracts 1.7 23.8 5.0 10.3

Interest rate 
swap receivable .1 1.6 — .1

Interest rate 
swap payable — — (.7) (2.2)



Exercise prices for options outstanding as of December 31, 1998
consisted of 2,996,596 options at a price range of $13 to $23,
2,515,599 options at a price range of $30 to $32 and 1,614,678
options at a price range of $31 to $41, with weighted-average
remaining contractual lives of approximately six years, seven years
and nine years, respectively.

The 1993 Stock Incentive Plan (“1993 Plan”) provides for several
types of equity-based incentive compensation awards. Under the
1993 Plan, the maximum number of shares that may be awarded is
14,100,000 shares, of which no more than 8,000,000 shares may
be used for restricted share and stock bonus grants. Awards, when
made, may also be in the form of stock options, stock appreciation
rights, dividend equivalent rights or performance unit awards. Stock
options granted to officers and key employees shall be at a price no
less than fair market value on the date the option is granted. During
1998, 1997 and 1996, restricted shares with aggregate value and
vesting and related amortization periods were granted as follows:
1998 – 499,000 valued at $16.0 vesting over one to three years;
1997– 36,000 shares valued at $1.2 vesting over one to three
years; and 1996 – 78,000 shares valued at $1.7 vesting over two to
four years.

Effective January 1, 1997, the 1997 Long-Term Incentive Plan
(“1997 LTIP”) was authorized under the 1993 Plan.The 1997
LTIP provides for the grant of two forms of incentive awards, per-
formance units for potential cash incentives and ten-year stock
options. Performance units are earned over the three-year perfor-
mance period (1997–1999), based on the degree of attainment of
performance objectives. Options are awarded annually over the
three-year performance period and vest in thirds over the three-year
period following each option grant date. As discussed above, these
options are granted at the fair market value on the date the option
is granted.

Effective January 1, 1994, the 1994 Long-Term Incentive Plan
(“1994 LTIP”) was authorized under the 1993 Plan authorizing
the grant of two forms of incentive awards, performance units for
potential cash incentives and ten-year stock options. As of
December 31, 1996, required performance goals under the 1994
LTIP were achieved and, accordingly, the cash incentives totaling
$31.0 were paid in early 1997.

Compensation expense under all plans in 1998 was $17.8 (1997 –
$15.6; 1996 – $14.7).The unamortized cost as of December 31,
1998 was $10.5 (1997 – $2.0).The accrued cost of the perfor-
mance units in 1998 was $24.1 (1997 – $12.7).

The Company has adopted the disclosure provisions of FAS No.
123, but, as permitted by the statement, has continued to apply
APB No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and
related interpretations in accounting for its employee stock option
plans. Under APB No. 25, because the exercise price of the
Company’s employee stock options equals the market price of the
underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is
recognized.

If the Company had elected to recognize compensation cost for the
plans based on the fair value at the grant dates, consistent with the
method prescribed by FAS No. 123, net income and earnings per
share would have been the pro forma amounts indicated below:

1998 1997 1996
Pro forma net income $ 263.0 $332.5 $314.9
Pro forma earnings per share:

Basic $ 1.00 $ 1.26 $ 1.18
Diluted $ .99 $ 1.25 $ 1.17

Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share
is required by FAS No. 123, and has been determined as if the

8 STOCK OPTION PLANS
A summary of the Company’s stock option activity, weighted-average exercise price and related information for the years ended December 31 is
as follows:

1996 1997 1998
Weighted Weighted Weighted

Shares Average Shares Average Shares Average
(in 000’s) Price (in 000’s) Price (in 000’s) Price

Outstanding – beginning of year 4,818 $14.23 5,750 $16.28 7,070 $22.29
Granted 1,788 19.81 2,860 30.68 1,664 32.40
Exercised (846) 12.08 (1,426) 14.47 (1,412) 17.59
Forfeited (10) 12.47 (114) 27.50 (195) 26.87
Outstanding – end of year 5,750 $16.28 7,070 $22.29 7,127 $25.46

Options exercisable – end of year 1,150 $13.02 1,360 $15.27 2,943 $18.74
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Company had accounted for its employee stock options under the
fair value method of FAS No. 123.The fair value for these options
was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option
pricing model which was developed for use in estimating the fair
value of traded options which have no vesting restrictions and are
fully transferable. In addition, option pricing models require the
input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock
price volatility.The weighted-average assumptions used for 1998
were the risk-free interest rate of approximately 5.5%; dividend
yield of 2%; expected volatility of the market price of the
Company’s common stock of 25% to 30%; and a weighted-average
expected life of the options of approximately five years.The weight-
ed-average assumptions used for 1997 and 1996 were the risk-free
interest rate of approximately 6.3% and 5.5%, respectively, divi-
dend yield of 2% and 3%, respectively, expected volatility of the
market price of the Company’s common stock of 25% and 20%,
respectively; and a weighted-average expected life of the options of
approximately five and three years, respectively.

9 SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Stock Split > On July 22, 1998, the Company declared a two-for-
one stock split in the form of a 100% stock dividend which was 
distributed in September 1998 to shareholders of record as of the
close of business on August 24, 1998. Accordingly, the stock split
has been recognized by reclassifying the par value of the additional
shares resulting from the split from retained earnings to common
stock and treasury stock.The effect of this stock split was not
retroactively reflected in the consolidated balance sheets and in 
the statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for 1997 and 
prior periods. All references to the number of share and per share
amounts elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements and
related footnotes have been restated to reflect the effect of the 
split for all periods presented.

Share Rights Plan > Avon has a 1988 Share Rights Plan under
which one right has been declared as a dividend for each outstand-
ing share of its common stock. Each right, which is redeemable at
$.005 at any time at Avon’s option, entitles the shareholder, among
other things, to purchase one share of Avon common stock at a
price equal to one-half of the then current market price, if certain
events have occurred.The right is exercisable if, among other events,
one party obtains a beneficial ownership of 20% or more of Avon’s
voting stock.

Dividends > On February 5, 1998, Avon increased the regular divi-
dend on common shares to an annual rate of $.68 per share with
the first quarterly dividend at the rate of $.17 per share having
been paid on March 2, 1998.

On February 1, 1997, Avon increased the regular dividend on com-
mon shares to an annual rate of $.63 per share, with the first quar-
terly dividend at the rate of $.1575 per share having been paid on
March 3, 1997.

On February 1, 1996, Avon increased the regular dividend on com-
mon shares to an annual rate of $.58 per share, with the first quar-
terly dividend at the rate of $.145 per share having been paid on
March 1, 1996.

Stock Repurchase Programs > During 1994, Avon’s Board autho-
rized a stock repurchase program under which Avon would buy back
up to 10% of its then outstanding common stock, or approximately
28.0 million shares. As of February 1997, when the plan ended, the
cumulative number of shares repurchased was 25.3 million shares
at a total cost of $424.4 which are included in Treasury Stock.
Under a new repurchase program, which began in February 1997,
the Company repurchased approximately 6.7 million shares at a
total cost of approximately $217.2 as of December 31, 1998.
Under this new program, the Company may buy back up to
$1,100.0 of its currently outstanding common stock through open
market purchases over a period of up to five years.

Savings Plan > In 1998, Avon contributed 62,520 (1997 –
87,344) shares of treasury stock to an employees’ savings plan and
recognized expense for its fair value. In addition, during 1997, the
Company contributed an additional 120,000 shares, for which the
expense had been accrued at December 31, 1996.The expense rec-
ognized for the plan in 1998 was $4.5 (1997 – $2.6; 1996 – $7.0).

Board of Directors Remuneration > Effective May 1, 1997, the
Company discontinued the Board retirement plan, which was applic-
able only to non-management directors. Directors retiring after that
date have had the actuarial value of their accrued retirement bene-
fits converted to a one-time grant of common stock which is restrict-
ed as to transfer until retirement. Shares totaling 52,786 were
issued to directors as a result of the discontinuance of the plan. As a
replacement for such plan, effective on and after May 1, 1997, each
non-management director is annually granted options to purchase
4,000 shares of common stock, at an exercise price based on the fair
market price of the stock on the date of grant.The annual grant
made in 1998 and 1997 consisted of a total of 36,000 and 40,000
options with an exercise price of $41.31 and $30.82, respectively.

Also effective as of May 1, 1997, the annual retainer paid to non-
management directors was changed to consist of $.025 cash plus an
annual grant of shares having a value of $.025 based on the average
closing market price of the stock for the ten days preceding the date
of grant.These shares are also restricted as to transfer until the
director retires from the Board.The annual grant made in 1998 and
1997 consisted of a total of 5,472 and 8,520 shares, respectively.

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Retirement Plans > Avon and certain subsidiaries have contributo-
ry and noncontributory retirement plans for substantially all
employees. Benefits under these plans are generally based on an
employee’s years of service and average compensation near retire-
ment. Plans are funded on a current basis except where funding is
not required. Plan assets consist primarily of equity securities, cor-
porate and government bonds, commingled funds and investments in
limited partnerships.

Effective July 1998, the defined benefit retirement plan covering
U.S.-based employees was converted to a cash balance plan with
benefits determined by compensation credits related to age and 



service and interest credits based on individual account balances
and prevailing interest rates. Additional amendments include an
increased company matching contribution to the savings plan and a
ten year transitional benefit arrangement for certain employees cov-
ered under the existing defined benefit retirement plan.

Postretirement Benefits > Avon provides health care, in excess of
Medicare coverage, and life insurance benefits for the majority of
employees who retire under Avon’s retirement plans in the United
States and certain foreign countries.The cost of such health care
benefits is shared by Avon and its retirees.

The following provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan
assets and funded status of these plans:

Pension Postretirement
Benefits Benefits

1998 1997 1998 1997
Change in benefit 
obligation:

Beginning balance $(889.9) $(874.6) $(197.1) $(196.0)
Service cost (35.4) (35.2) (3.3) (3.0)
Interest cost (64.5) (63.1) (13.0) (13.0)
Actuarial (loss) gain (83.0) (35.9) 1.4 (5.6)
Benefits paid 84.9 61.8 10.2 20.5
Plan amendments — 26.9 — —
Other (11.9) 30.2 — —

Ending balance (999.8) (889.9) (201.8) (197.1)
Change in plan assets:

Beginning balance 785.5 690.7 — —
Actual return on

plan assets 102.9 117.3 — —
Company contributions 61.3 48.0 10.2 20.5
Plan participant

contributions 1.5 1.2 — —
Benefits paid (84.9) (61.8) (10.2) (20.5)
Other (3.2) (9.9) — —

Ending balance 863.1 785.5 — —
Funded status of the plan (136.7) (104.4) (201.8) (197.1)

Unrecognized actuarial   
loss(gain) 139.3 99.3 (6.2) (6.2)

Unrecognized prior
service cost (9.6) (7.2) — —

Unrecognized net transition
obligation(asset) 1.3 (3.0) — —

Prepaid (Accrued)
benefit cost (5.7) (15.3) (208.0) (203.3)

Amount recognized in 
the statements:

Prepaid benefit 138.0 115.2 — —
Accrued liability (143.7) (130.5) (208.0) (203.3)
Additional minimum 

liability (19.7) (18.1) — —
Intangible asset 4.3 18.1 — —
Accumulated other 

comprehensive income 15.4 — — —
$ (5.7) $ (15.3) $(208.0) $(203.3)

At December 31, 1998 and 1997, the weighted-average discount
rates used in determining the pension benefit obligation were 6.7%
and 7.0%, respectively. At December 31, 1998 and 1997, the
weighted-average discount rates used in determining the postretire-
ment benefit obligation were 7.0% and 7.2%, respectively.

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and
fair value of plan assets for pension and postretirement benefit plans
with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were
$435.4, $397.7, and $30.7, respectively, as of December 31,1998
and $412.4, $380.1, and $31.8, respectively as of December 31,1997.

Net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31 was
determined as follows:

Pension Benefits:
1998 1997 1996

Service cost $ 35.4 $ 35.2 $ 36.6
Interest cost 64.5 63.1 61.4
Expected return on plan assets (64.0) (58.9) (58.9)
Amortization of transition 

(liability) asset (6.8) (6.8) (6.6)
Amortization of prior 

service cost (.4) 3.6 3.7
Amortization of actuarial 

losses (gains) 12.3 7.7 8.9
Settlements or curtailments — 4.6 .3
Other .3 — 1.0
Net periodic benefit cost $ 41.3 $ 48.5 $ 46.4

Postretirement Benefits:
1998 1997 1996

Service cost $ 3.3 $ 3.0 $ 3.3
Interest cost 13.0 13.0 14.0
Expected return on plan assets — — —
Amortization of transition 

(liability) asset — — —
Amortization of prior 

service cost — — —
Amortization of actuarial 

losses (gains) — — —
Settlements or curtailments — — —
Other — — —
Net periodic benefit cost $ 16.3 $ 16.0 $ 17.3

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the data for
the years ended December 31 are as follows:

Pension Benefits:
1998 1997 1996

Discount rate 7.1% 7.4% 7.3%
Rate of compensation increase 4.0 4.7 4.5
Rate of return on assets 9.2 9.2 9.3

Postretirement Benefits:
1998 1997 1996

Discount rate 7.2% 7.7% 7.2%
Rate of compensation increase 4.5 4.5 4.5
Rate of return on assets N/A N/A N/A



56 | 57

For 1998, the assumed rate of future increases in the per capita
cost of health care benefits (the health care cost trend rate) was
8.1% for pre-65 claims (7.8% for post-65 claims) and will gradu-
ally decrease each year thereafter to 5.0% in 2005 and beyond.The
healthcare cost trend rate assumption has a significant effect on 
the amounts reported. A one-percentage point change in the assumed
health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

1 Percentage 1 Percentage
(In millions) Point Increase Point Decrease
Effect on total of service

and interest cost components 2.4 2.0
Effect on postretirement benefit

obligation 22.9 19.1

Supplemental Executive Retirement and Life Insurance Plans >
Avon has a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”)
which is a defined benefit plan under which Avon will pay supple-
mental pension benefits to key executives in addition to amounts
received under Avon’s retirement plan.The annual cost of this plan
has been included in the determination of the net periodic benefit
cost shown above and in 1998 amounted to $6.1 (1997 – $5.5;
1996 - $5.5). Such benefits will be paid from Avon’s assets.The
accumulated benefit obligation under this plan at December 31,
1998 was $21.9 (1997 – $22.8) and is primarily included in
Employee Benefit Plans.

Avon also maintains a Supplemental Life Insurance Plan (“SLIP”)
under which additional death benefits ranging from $.35 to $2.0
are provided to certain active and retired officers. Avon has
acquired corporate-owned life insurance policies to provide partial
funding of the benefits.The cash surrender value of these policies at
December 31, 1998 was $22.4 (1997 – $20.6) and is held in a
grantor trust. During 1997, certain retirees elected to receive a
cash distribution from the SLIP approximating $10.0 which was
funded by corporate-owned life insurance policies.

Avon has established a grantor trust to provide funding for the ben-
efits payable under the SERP and SLIP.The trust is irrevocable and
assets contributed to the trust can only be used to pay such benefits
with certain exceptions.The assets held in the trust at December 31,
1998, amounted to $94.5 (1997 – $81.7), consisting of a fixed
income portfolio, a managed portfolio of equity securities and cor-
porate-owned life insurance policies.These assets are included in
Other Assets.

Postemployment Benefits > Avon provides postemployment 
benefits which include salary continuation, severance benefits, dis-
ability benefits, continuation of health care benefits and life 
insurance coverage to former employees after employment but
before retirement. At December 31, 1998, the accrued cost 
for postemployment benefits was $33.5 (1997 – $35.0) and is 
included in Employee Benefit Plans.

11 SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Company’s reportable segments are based on geographic opera-
tions and include a North American business unit and International
business units in Latin America, Pacific and Europe regions.The
segments have similar business characteristics and each offers simi-
lar products through common customer access methods.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same 
as those described in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements.The Company evaluates the performance of
its operating segments based on operating profits or losses.
Segment revenues reflect direct sales of products to representatives
based on their geographic location. Intersegment sales and transfers
are not significant. Each segment records direct expenses related to
its employees and its operations.The Company does not allocate
income taxes, foreign exchange gains or losses, or corporate over-
head expenses to operating segments. Identifiable assets are primar-
ily those directly used in the operations of each segment. “Other”
assets include corporate cash, investments, deferred tax assets and
certain intangibles.

Summarized financial information concerning the Company’s
reportable segments as of December 31, is shown in the following
table. Net sales and operating profit by reportable segment are pre-
sented on page 31.

Identifiable Assets:
1998 1997 1996

North America
US $ 497.2 $ 516.0 $ 473.3
Other* 111.9 118.3 86.1
Total 609.1 634.3 559.4

International
Latin America 530.8 481.4 461.7
Europe 390.1 361.9 376.4
Pacific 379.9 376.7 382.4
Total 1,300.8 1,220.0 1,220.5

Corporate and other 523.6 418.6 442.5
Total identifiable assets $2,433.5 $2,272.9 $2,222.4



Capital Expenditures:
1998 1997 1996

North America
US $ 32.1 $ 24.0 $ 19.9
Other* 11.7 5.2 2.8
Total 43.8 29.2 22.7

International
Latin America 33.5 21.4 14.7
Europe 28.8 17.5 21.3
Pacific 28.1 41.2 28.0
Total 90.4 80.1 64.0

Corporate and Other 55.3 60.1 16.9
Total capital expenditures $ 189.5 $ 169.4 $ 103.6

Depreciation and Amortization:
1998 1997 1996

North America 
US $ 19.2 $ 17.9 $ 16.0
Other* 2.4 2.2 1.9
Total 21.6 20.1 17.9

International
Latin America 12.0 10.7 10.2
Europe 14.9 14.8 14.4
Pacific 11.2 15.3 13.0
Total 38.1 40.8 37.6

Corporate and Other 12.3 11.2 9.0
Total depreciation 

and amortization $ 72.0 $ 72.1 $ 64.5
*Includes operating information for Puerto Rico, Dominican Republic, Canada and

Discovery Toys.

The following table presents consolidated net sales by classes of
principal products, as of December 31.

1998 1997 1996
Cosmetics, fragrance and 

toiletries $3,181.6 $3,093.9 $2,946.8
Gift and decorative 1,050.6 1,049.7 934.1
Apparel 572.0 565.6 556.3
Fashion jewelry and accessories 408.5 370.2 377.0
Total net sales $5,212.7 $5,079.4 $4,814.2

Foreign Exchange > Financial statement translation of sub-
sidiaries operating in highly inflationary economies and foreign cur-
rency transactions resulted in (gains) losses in 1998 netting to 

($1.1) (1997 – $2.2; 1996 – $3.1), which are included in other
(income) expense, net and income taxes. In addition, cost of sales
and expenses include the unfavorable impact of the translation of
inventories and prepaid expenses at historical rates in countries
with highly inflationary economies in 1998 of $15.8 (1997 – $6.0;
1996 – $12.6).

12 LEASES AND COMMITMENTS
Minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating 
leases, primarily for equipment and office facilities at December 31,
1998, consisted of the following:

Year
1999 $ 65.5
2000 51.2
2001 38.4
2002 28.6
2003 22.9
Later years 230.1
Sublease rental income (6.3)
Total $430.4

Rent expense in 1998 was $84.7 (1997 – $88.2; 1996 – $89.7).
Various construction and information systems projects were in
progress at December 31, 1998 with an estimated cost to complete
of approximately $87.4.

13 SPECIAL AND NON-RECURRING CHARGES
In October 1997, the Company announced a worldwide business
process redesign program to streamline operations and improve
profitability through margin improvement and expense reductions.
The special and non-recurring charges associated with this program
totaled $154.4 pretax ($122.8 net of tax, or $.46 per share on a
basic and diluted basis) for the year ended December 31, 1998.

For the year ended December 31, 1998, special and non-recurring
charges by business segment are as follows:

Cost of
Special Sales

Charges Charge Total
North America $ 58.9 $ 25.7 $ 84.6
Latin America 2.3 4.0 6.3
Europe 14.2 4.0 18.2
Pacific 23.1 4.2 27.3
Corporate 18.0 — 18.0
Total $116.5 $ 37.9 $ 154.4
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For the year ended December 31, 1998, special and non-recurring
charges by category of expenditures are as follows:

Cost of
Special Sales

Charges Charge Total
Employee severance costs $ 56.4 $ — $ 56.4
Inventories — 37.9 37.9
Write-down of assets

to net realizable value 31.8 — 31.8
Field program buy-out 14.4 — 14.4
Other 13.9 — 13.9
Total $116.5 $ 37.9 $ 154.4

Employee severance costs are expenses, both domestic and interna-
tional, associated with the realignment of the Company’s global
operations.The workforce will be reduced by approximately two
thousand employees, or 7% of the total. Approximately one-half of
the employees to be terminated relate to the facility closures. As of
December 31, 1998, approximately 90% of the two thousand
employees have been terminated.

Inventory-related charges represent losses to write down the carry-
ing value of non-strategic inventory prior to disposal.These charges
result from the closure of facilities, discontinuation of certain prod-
uct lines, size-of-line reductions and a change in strategy for prod-
uct dispositions.

The write-down of assets relates to the closure of a Far East buying
office and manufacturing facilities in Puerto Rico and the
Dominican Republic. As a result of ongoing government restrictions,
the Company has also decided to close certain branches and a
regional office in China. Also, write-downs include assets (primarily
fixed and intangible assets) associated with the divestiture of the
Discovery Toys business unit, which was effective January 15, 1999.

The field program buy-out represents costs to revamp the
Company’s representative recruitment program in the U.S.

“Other” category primarily represents lease and contract termina-
tion costs, litigation costs, and other costs associated with the 
facility closures.

The liability balance at December 31, 1998 is as follows:
Cost of

Special Sales
Charges Charge Total

Provision $116.5 $ 37.9 $154.4
Cash expenditures:

Severance (43.6) — (43.6)
Field program buy-out (12.6) — (12.6)
Other (9.8) — (9.8)

Non-cash write-offs (22.0) (37.9) (59.9)
Total $ 28.5 $ — $ 28.5

The balance at December 31, 1998 relates primarily to employee
severance costs that will be paid during 1999.

The Company expects to record additional charges in 1999 as plans
are finalized.

14 CONTINGENCIES
Various lawsuits and claims (asserted and unasserted), arising in
the ordinary course of business or related to businesses previously
sold, are pending or threatened against Avon.

In 1991, a class action lawsuit was initiated against Avon on behalf
of certain classes of holders of Avon’s Preferred Equity-Redemption
Cumulative Stock (“PERCS”).This lawsuit alleges various contract
and securities law claims relating to the PERCS (which were fully
redeemed that year). Avon has rejected the assertions in this case,
believes it has meritorious defenses to the claims and is vigorously
contesting this lawsuit.

In the opinion of Avon’s management, based on its review of the
information available at this time, the difference, if any, between the
total cost of resolving such contingencies and reserves recorded by
Avon at December 31, 1998 should not have a material adverse
impact on Avon’s consolidated financial position, results of opera-
tions or cash flows.

15 SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On February 4, 1999, Avon’s Board approved an increase in the
quarterly cash dividend to $.18 per share from $.17.The first divi-
dend at the new rate will be paid on March 1, 1999 to shareholders
of record on February 16, 1999. On an annualized basis, the new
dividend rate will be $.72 per share.



The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Avon
Products, Inc. have been prepared by management in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles and necessarily
include amounts that are based on judgments and estimates.The
audit report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accoun-
tants, on these financial statements is the result of their audits of
these consolidated financial statements, which were performed in
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.

Avon maintains an internal control structure and related systems,
policies and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance
that assets are safeguarded, transactions are executed in accor-
dance with appropriate authorization and accounting records may
be relied upon for the preparation of financial information. Avon
also maintains an internal audit department that evaluates and for-
mally reports to management on the adequacy and effectiveness of
controls, policies and procedures.

The audit committee of the board of directors, comprised solely of
outside directors, has an oversight role in the area of financial
reporting and internal controls.This committee meets several times
during the year with management, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
and the internal auditors to monitor the proper discharge of each of
their respective responsibilities. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and
the internal auditors have free access to management and to the
audit committee to discuss the results of their activities and the
adequacy of controls.

It is management’s opinion that Avon’s policies and procedures,
reinforced by the internal control structure, provide reasonable
assurance that operations are managed in a responsible and profes-
sional manner with a commitment to the highest standard of busi-
ness conduct.

Charles R. Perrin Robert J. Corti
Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President,

Chief Financial Officer

To the Shareholders of Avon Products, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and
the related consolidated statements of income, changes in share-
holders’ equity and cash flows present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Avon Products, Inc. and its sub-
sidiaries at December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 1998, in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.These financial statements are the
responsibility of Avon’s management; our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with gener-
ally accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion
expressed above.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
February 4, 1999

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT REPORT OF lNDEPENDENT
ACCOUNTANTS
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In millions, except per share and employee data 1998 1997 1996 1995
Income data
Net sales $ 5,212.7 $ 5,079.4 $ 4,814.2 $ 4,492.1
Operating profit 479.5 544.1 544.8 507.5
Interest expense 41.0 41.8 40.0 41.3
Income from continuing operations before 

taxes, minority interest and cumulative effect of 
accounting changes 455.9(3) 534.9 510.4 465.0

Income from continuing operations before 
minority interest and cumulative effect of
accounting changes 265.1(3) 337.0 319.0 288.6

Income from continuing operations 270.0(3) 338.8 317.9 286.1
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net — — — (29.6)
Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net — — — —
Net income (loss) 270.0(3) 338.8 317.9 256.5
Earnings (loss) per share – basic(1) (2)

Continuing operations $ 1.03(3) $ 1.28 $ 1.19 $ 1.05
Discontinued operations — — — (.11)
Cumulative effect of accounting changes — — — —
Net income (loss) 1.03(3) 1.28 1.19 .94
Earnings (loss) per share – diluted(1) (2)

Continuing operations $ 1.02(3) $ 1.27 $ 1.18 $ 1.05
Discontinued operations — — — (.11)
Cumulative effect of accounting changes — — — —
Net income (loss) 1.02(3) 1.27 1.18 .94
Cash dividends per share
Common $ .68 $ .63 $ .58 $ .53
Preferred  — — — —
Balance sheet data
Working capital $ 11.9 $ (11.9) $ (41.7) $ (30.3)
Capital expenditures 189.5 169.4 103.6 72.7
Property, plant and equipment, net 669.9 611.0 566.6 537.8
Total assets 2,433.5 2,272.9 2,222.4 2,052.8
Debt maturing within one year 55.3 132.1 97.1 47.3
Long-term debt 201.0 102.2 104.5 114.2
Total debt 256.3 234.3 201.6 161.5
Shareholders’ equity 285.1 285.0 241.7 192.7
Number of employees
United States 8,000 8,100 7,800 8,000
International 25,900 26,900 25,900 23,800
Total employees 33,900 35,000 33,700 31,800

(1) Two-for-one stock splits were distributed in September 1998 and June 1996. All per share data in this report, unless indicated, have been restated to reflect the splits.
(2) Effective for the year ended December 31, 1997, the Company adopted FAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share”. FAS No. 128 establishes standards for computing and presenting

earnings per share (“EPS”) and replaces the presentation of previously disclosed EPS with both basic and diluted EPS. Based upon the Company’s capitalization structure,
the EPS amounts calculated in accordance with FAS No. 128 approximated the Company’s EPS amounts in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 15,
“Earnings per Share”. All prior period EPS data have been restated in accordance with FAS No. 128.

(3) In 1998, Avon began a worldwide business process redesign program in order to streamline operations and recorded special and non-recurring charges of $154.4 ($122.8 net
of tax, or $.46 per share on a basic and diluted basis). Excluding the special and non-recurring charges, net income in 1998 increased 16% to $392.8 from $338.8.

(4) Effective January 1, 1994, Avon adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”) No. 112, “Employers’ Accounting for Postemployment Benefits”, for all
applicable operations, and FAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions”, for its foreign benefit plans. Effective January 1, 1993,
Avon adopted FAS No. 106 for its U.S. retiree health care and life insurance benefit plans and FAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”. Effective January 1, 1988, Avon
adopted FAS No. 96, “Accounting for Income Taxes”.

ELEVEN-YEAR REVlEW
Avon Products, Inc.



1994 1993 1992 1991 1990 1989 1988

$4,266.5 $3,844.1 $3,660.5 $3,441.0 $3,291.6 $2,998.3 $2,835.2
495.6 433.2 345.2 434.7 413.3 372.6 317.6

50.8 45.2 43.7 75.4 77.5 118.0 112.9

433.8 394.6 290.0(5) 352.9 305.6 252.9 208.3

270.3 243.8 169.4(5) 209.3 180.3 134.1 121.1
264.8 236.9 164.2(5) 204.8 174.1 126.5 112.3
(23.8) 2.7 10.8 (69.1) 21.2 (71.9) (536.8)
(45.2)(4) (107.5)(4) — — — — 20.0(4)

195.8 132.1 175.0(5) 135.7 195.3 54.6 (404.5)

$ .94 $ .82 $ .57(5) $ .65(6) $ .61 $ .41(7) $ .38(7)

(.09) .01 .04 (.24) .09 (.33) (2.16)
(.16) (.37) — — — — .08
.69 .46 .61(5) .41(6) .70 .08(7) (1.70)(7)

$ .93 $ .82 $ .57(5) $ .71(6) $ .58 $ .40(7) $ .38(7)

(.08) .01 .04 (.24) .07 (.32) (2.16)
(.16) (.37) — — — — .08
.69 .46 .61(5) .47(6) .65 .08(7) (1.70)(7)

$ .48 $ .43 $ .38 $ 1.10(8) $ .25 $ .25 $ .38
— — — .253 .50 .50 .25

$ 9.3 $ 23.1 $ (99.5) $ (135.3) $ 71.6 $ 56.3 $ 51.0
99.9 58.1 62.7 61.2 36.3 33.3 46.0

528.4 476.2 476.7 468.5 467.2 472.5 529.1
1,978.3 1,918.7 1,692.6 1,693.3 2,010.1 1,994.1 2,362.6

61.2 70.4 37.3 143.8 207.1 151.7 205.6
116.5 123.7 177.7 208.1 334.8 673.2 917.9
177.7 194.1 215.0 351.9 541.9 824.9 1,123.5
185.6 314.0 310.5 251.6 393.4 228.3 239.3

7,900 8,000 8,700 9,200 9,500 9,400 9,700
22,500 21,500 20,700 20,900 20,300 19,900 18,400
30,400 29,500 29,400 30,100 29,800 29,300 28,100

(5) In 1992, Avon began the restructuring of its worldwide manufacturing and distribution facilities and recorded a provision of $96.0 ($64.4 after tax, or $.22 per share 
on a basic and diluted basis). Income from continuing operations in 1993 increased 4% from $228.6, or $.79 per share on a basic and diluted basis, excluding the 1992 
restructuring charge.

(6) For 1991, in management’s opinion, per share amounts assuming dilution, even though the result is antidilutive, provide the most meaningful comparison of per share data
because they show the full effect of the conversion of 72 preferred shares into approximately 51.84 common shares on June 3, 1991.

(7) In 1989 and 1988, the calculation of earnings per share was assumed to be antidilutive and, accordingly, earnings per share were not adjusted for the conversion of 
preferred shares into additional common shares.

(8) Includes special dividend of $.75 paid in 1991.
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